



JRC Technical Report

A Joint European Commission–Eurofound Report

A comprehensive European database of tasks indices for socio-economic research

JRC Working Papers Series on Labour, Education and Technology 2021/04

Martina Bisello, Marta Fana, Enrique Fernández-Macías and Sergio Torrejón Pérez



This Working paper is a joint publication by the European Commission - Joint Research Centre (JRC) and the European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound). The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound) is a tripartite European Union Agency established in 1975. Its role is to provide knowledge in the area of social, employment and work-related policies according to Regulation (EU) 2019/127. The JRC is the European Commission's science and knowledge service. It aims to provide evidence-based scientific support to the European policymaking process.

Disclaimer

The scientific output expressed does not imply a policy position of Eurofound or the European Commission. Neither Eurofound nor the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use that might be made of this publication. This working paper has not been subject to the full Eurofound evaluation, editorial and publication process.

Contact information

Name: Martina Bisello Address: Eurofound (Dublin, Ireland) Email: Martina.Bisello@eurofound.europa.eu

Eurofound: https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/

Name: Marta Fana Address: Joint Research Centre, European Commission (Seville, Spain) Email: Marta.FANA@ec.europa.eu

EU Science Hub: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/jrc</u>

JRC124124

Seville: European Commission, 2021

© European Union, 2021 and European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound), 2021.



The reuse policy of the European Commission is implemented by the Commission Decision 2011/833/EU of 12 December 2011 on the reuse of Commission documents (OJ L 330, 14.12.2011, p. 39). Except otherwise noted, the reuse of this document is authorised under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) licence (<u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>). This means that reuse is allowed provided appropriate credit is given and any changes are indicated. For any use or reproduction of photos or other material that is not owned by the EU or under the Eurofound copyright, permission must be sought directly from the copyright holders.

All content @ European Union, 2021 and European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound), 2021

How to cite this report: Bisello, M., Fana, M., Fernández-Macías, E. and Torrejón Pérez, S. *A comprehensive European database of tasks indices for socio-economic research*, Seville: European Commission, 2021, JRC124124.

A comprehensive European database of tasks indices for socio-economic research

Martina Bisello, Marta Fana, Enrique Fernández-Macías and Sergio Torrejón Pérez (Eurofound and European Commission JRC, Seville)

Abstract

This paper presents a new and enriched version of the European database of tasks indices across jobs in the EU15 (minus UK) economy using most recent data from European Working Conditions Survey (EWCS 2015), a European (Italian) version of the O*NET database of occupational contents (ICP 2012) and the OECD's PIAAC Survey. The database of tasks indicators was created based on a coherent and comprehensive taxonomy of tasks contents, methods and tools developed in Fernández-Macías and Bisello (2020), which builds on the original version published in Fernández-Macías et al., (2016a, 2016b) including several additional new concepts and indicators at different levels. After a detailed description of the construction of the database and an initial assessment of its internal consistency, the paper offers an analysis of the tasks distribution across occupations and sectors at the European level, providing useful insights of work content and organisational methods prevailing along the job structure. The possibility to dig into the complexity of work activities characterizing single jobs allow to identify patterns of correlation across task indices and to better understand how tasks are bundled across occupations by sectors pairs. The empirical analysis confirms that tasks are not isolated forms of labour inputs that just happen to be in productive processes but building blocks of coherently constructed jobs which are embedded in productive organisations. Any analysis of tasks which focuses on a particular type in isolation risks missing important connections with other types of task content and forms of work organisation. We hope that our contribution raises awareness of the importance of having good and detailed measures of tasks contents, consistently measured at the individual worker level and at different points in time, in order to understand better how technical change and other factors are continuously changing the nature of work and the associated skills demand and job quality. A future European tasks survey could precisely provide that.

Keywords: tasks, employment structure, European labour market, work organisation

Authors: Martina Bisello, Marta Fana, Enrique Fernández-Macías and Sergio Torrejón Pérez (Eurofound and European Commission JRC, Seville)

Joint Research Centre reference number: JRC124124 Eurofound reference number: WPEF21045

Related publications and reports:

- Fernández-Macías, E. and Bisello, M. (2020). <u>A Taxonomy of Tasks for Assessing the Impact</u> of New Technologies on Work.

- Fernández-Macías, E., Hurley, J., Bisello, M. (2016). <u>What do Europeans do at work? A task-based analysis: European Jobs Monitor 2016</u>.

- Fernández-Macías, E., Bisello, M., Sarkar, S. and Torrejón, S. (2016). <u>Methodology of the construction of task indices for the European Jobs Monitor</u>.

Contents

Introduction	.4
A review of existing measures and applications	.5
Measures based on occupational databases	. 6
Measures based on survey data	. 7
The JRC-Eurofound taxonomy of tasks: an overview	.9
The construction of the European tasks database1	.0
Sources1	10
EWCS 1	L1
ICP 20121	L1
PIAAC1	1
Advantages and limitations of the sources used1	L2
Mapping of the sources to the taxonomy of tasks1	L2
Construction of the indices1	L4
Consistency across sources and variables1	L4
Physical tasks1	۱5
Intellectual tasks1	۱5
Social tasks1	۱5
Methods of work1	۱5
Tools1	16
Describing the distribution of employment from a task perspective1	.6
An inspection of the task profile of 4 significant jobs1	9
Bundling of tasks across European jobs2	22
Correlations within domains of task content 2	22
Correlation between indices of task content2	22
Correlation between the task content and the task methods and tools	23
Final remarks2	25
References2	26
Annex 1	29
Annex 2: variables used	32

Introduction

Until not so long ago, economists paid little attention to the task content of jobs and occupations. The production process and the role played by labour on it was handled in economic theory by the convenient black box of the production function, and in the analytical models labour was at most differentiated by its potential productivity, proxied by skill level. But the empirical observation of a non-linear (polarised) evolution of employment growth across skill levels in English-speaking economies since the 1990s led some economists to search for a more nuanced understanding of how technology affected different types of labour input (Autor, Levy and Murnane 2003; Goos and Manning 2007). The hypothesis that computerisation has a "routine-biased" impact on employment (replacing routine jobs and complementing non-routine ones) provided a starting point for this more nuanced understanding: labour input could be broken down into a series of distinct "tasks", which could then be classified according to the specific types of skills they require.

Thus, a whole new literature emerged in labour economics in the last two decades, discussing how different types of task content were associated with different outcomes in terms of employment, wages or other dimensions related to job quality and working conditions, often in relation with the impact of technical change or international trade (for a review, see Fernández-Macías et al., 2016a). While this literature has without any doubt enlarged the scope of economic research and improved our understanding of recent labour market trends, it suffers from some conceptual and empirical limitations that are worth mentioning. First, it ignores very rich traditions in other fields in social sciences (in particular, sociology and social psychology, as well as other fields in economics) of research on the division of labour, work organization and occupational change which had in fact already identified decades ago some of the phenomena that this new economic literature has "discovered" in recent years. For instance, in "Labour and Monopoly Capital: The Degradation of Work in the Twentieth Century" (1974), Braverman already spoke about a tendency of polarisation in the occupational structure, with declining employment for mid-skilled working-class occupations and expanding low-skilled service jobs.¹ Even within the economics discipline, theoretical contributions like the organizational theory of the firm and the capability theory of the firm (Cetrulo et al., 2020; Dosi et al., 2001; Dosi and Marengo, 2015) discuss the implementation of organizational routines within firms as well their relationship with the creation and appropriation of knowledge over the occupational hierarchy. Secondly, most of the recent economic research on tasks was based on classifying entire occupations rather than measuring task content as such (although this is changing in most recent years, as a result of better data availability). Third, most of the task-related economic research tends to focus on specific categories of task content (most frequently, routine, manual and cognitive tasks), neglecting the fact that jobs are coherent bundles of interrelated tasks which cannot be properly understood in isolation. Fourth, the tasks approach adopted in labour economics is often grounded on a deterministic view of the process of substitution/complementarity between working activities (tasks) performed by human labour and by machines. In this framework, whether a given task is performed by humans or machines is fully determined by comparative advantage (relative costs between labour and capital inputs), disregarding values and social relations prevalent in a given historical and institutional context.²

In 2016, Fernández-Macías et al. (2016b) developed a comprehensive hierarchical taxonomy of task contents, methods and tools of work that tried to overcome some of these limitations. On the basis of this taxonomy, and using existing data sources that included task-relevant information as well as

¹ It is interesting to note that Braverman also based these arguments on an analysis of long-term trends in employment across different occupational levels and discussed in detail the impact of technology on the task content of occupations. However, we should not take this argument too far: obviously, there are fundamental differences in the main arguments of the routinisation literature and Braverman's work.

² Braverman (1974) also highlighted how other factors apart from technical change, such as the organisational culture and power relations in workplaces, influence to the type of technology to be used and the task content of jobs.

comparable occupational classifications, a database of task indicators for occupations was created. These indicators followed rigorously the tree structure of the taxonomy, and thus could be aggregated at different levels and simultaneously analysed. The possibility to dig into the complexity of work activities characterizing single occupations allow to identify patterns of correlation across task indices and/or to better understand how tasks are bundled across occupations (Fernández-Macías et al., 2016a; Pouliakas and Russo, 2015). Since this dataset was published, there have been several applications to specific research projects and papers, both by the authors of the present paper (or some of them) and by other researchers (see Table A1).

In this paper, we present a new version (2.0) of the tasks database, an initial assessment of its internal consistency and an analysis of the tasks distribution across occupations and sectors at the European level. It is worth emphasizing that the database presented in this paper is not a revision of the one we already made public in 2016, but a new version embedding some important novelties compared to its predecessor. First, it is based on a revised version of the underlying taxonomy, which was published in 2020 with the addition of several new concepts and components at different levels (Fernández-Macías and Bisello, 2020). Although this new version of the taxonomy remains broadly consistent with the previous one, it is sufficiently new as to require a new operationalisation, as presented in this paper. Second, since the first version of the tasks database was made public, new and better European data sources on tasks have been made available, allowing for the use of more updated and reliable data. As we will explain later in more detail, the construction of this new version of the European tasks database uses a more recent version of the European Working Conditions Survey (Eurofound, 2016) and a European (Italian) version of the O*NET database of occupational contents (rather than the US version we had to rely on five years ago because of the lack of alternatives). Only in the case of the OECD's PIAAC Survey we use the same data source as in the first version of the database, although even in this case some indices have been updated to reflect the changes of the underlying taxonomy.

This paper unfolds as follows. Section 2 makes a review of the different measure used in recent years in different fields of social sciences and provides examples of their application based on different national and/ or international sources. Section 3 briefly presents the taxonomy used in this paper. In Section 4, a detailed presentation of sources and methodology adopted for the construction of the tasks indices is provided, together with an analysis of consistency across sources and tasks dimensions. In Section 5, we present the average distribution of tasks across European labour markets, while Section 6 presents the distribution of tasks across some of the most important jobs (occupation-sector combinations) in terms of employment size. Finally, Section 7 discusses how tasks bundle across different occupations and sectors. Section 8 concludes.

A review of existing measures and applications

In the last two decades, the increased attention paid to the role of tasks in shaping structural change in employment fostered the development of new and in many cases more granular and detailed data sources. The possibility to empirically operationalise the tasks approach to study structural changes across time and space strongly depends on data availability. As already stressed by Autor (2013) in his seminal paper, studying patterns in tasks within and across occupations is not feasible unless tasks data are collected consistently in more than one point in time. Similarly, different economies are characterized by different economic processes depending on historical and institutional factors, therefore using the mapping of tasks collected in a single country to inform on other economic structures may lead to biased estimates (Fana et al., 2020).

The rest of this section briefly reviews, although not exhaustively, the main types of data sources collected at the country and international level which have been used to operationalise the tasks approaches developed in the literature. It is worth highlighting that although the non-availability of

data is detrimental for empirical applications, the theoretical grounds informing them is pivotal. For instance, the same source of data can be used in radically different tasks frameworks, depending on what researcher are looking for from a conceptual point of view.

Measures based on occupational databases

In their seminal work, Autor et al. (2003) made a systematic effort to classify occupations according to their intensity of use of some specific types of tasks, namely nonroutine analytic, nonroutine interactive, routine cognitive, routine manual and nonroutine manual. The resulting classification³ was operationalised using the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (DOT), an occupational database that contains detailed descriptions of occupational contents made by trained job analysts based on their observations and interviews at selected job sites for the U.S. economy. More specifically, experts evaluated the importance of many different task and skill categories across different detailed occupations, assigning standardised scores to each item. By using this database, Autor et al. (2003) constructed a total of five variables measuring the extent to which occupations involve the tasks categories specified above.

Other researchers replicated the ALM model or produced reformulations introducing adjustments to adapt their data to their particular interests, while still using DOT or its successor: the Occupational Information Network Database, known as O*NET. Cunningham and Mohr (2019) use a taxonomy that includes together with ALM indices the type of tools used at work and, more generally, the tasks that are associated to a higher and a lower pay (job specific tools and general tools). Blinder (2009), with the aim of evaluating the potential number of jobs at risk of displacement because of international trade, created an index of offshorability based on requirement of physical location and proximity to the work unit. More recently, direct contact and physical proximity has been used by Dingel and Neiman (2020) to study the potential for telework during the COVID-19 pandemic. More in line with the original proposal, the ALM taxonomy (with refinements in some cases) built using DOT/O*NET occupational content data has been matched with EU-LFS data to illustrate changes in the work composition of several European countries (Acemoglu and Autor, 2011; Arias et al., 2014; Goos et al., 2014; Goos and Manning, 2007; Górka et al., 2017; Hardy et al., 2018). Similarly, Arias et al. (2014) use measures of skill requirements, defined following the ALM model, and extrapolate these measures to the occupational structure of countries in Central and Eastern Europe and Central Asia.

While DOT and O*NET contain U.S. data, the Indagine Campionaria sulle Professioni (ICP), developed by the National Institute for Public Policy Analysis (INAPP) and the Italian National Statistical Institute (ISTAT), constitutes the only European data source closely replicating O*NET for the Italian occupational structure, although with some methodological differences that will be discussed later. This Italian version of the O*NET has been extensively used in recent years. For example, Cirillo et al. (2020) adopt the standard task approach (Autor et al., 2003; Goos et al., 2014) to investigate the Routine Biased Technical Change (RBTC) hypothesis in the Italian context, finding supporting evidence. Another recent contribution, (Cetrulo et al., 2020) uses ICP data to characterise the Italian occupational structure in terms of knowledge and learning, work organization (including degrees of autonomy, routinariety, automation, control, and social interactions) and ICT skills. In their study, departing from the standard approach, the authors put human agency and organizations at the centre of the stage, highlighting the importance of power relations, hierarchies and knowledge as the most relevant attributes characterizing the division of labour.

The main advantage of occupational databases such as DOT, O*NET and the ICP is that they cover the entire spectrum of the occupational structure at a high level of detail. These sources are the most comprehensive databases reporting qualitative and quantitative information on tasks, skills, work

³ Other indices to measure the intensity of routine tasks at work have been developed and used by Autor and Dorn (2013), Autor, Dorn and Hanson (2015), Goos et al. (2014), etc.

contexts, and organizational characteristics. But they have important limitations too. First, they provide information at the level of occupations rather than individual workers, and therefore they do not allow to capture the variability of tasks within the same occupation. For the same reason, task differences between economic sectors are not captured, so that the horizontal dimension of the division of labour is entirely missing. Second, in the case of O*NET, it also gathers data from professional job analysts on the Abilities and Skills questionnaires, and from "occupational experts" on small occupations that are difficult to reach through samples (Freeman et al., 2020, page 3). Such information, which is updated on a rolling basis, supplement data from job incumbent collected through ongoing surveys of workers in each occupation. The ICP instead is based on survey evidence collected at the worker's level, which is then validated ex-post by experts. Third, these sources were not originally constructed to measure changes in the task content over time, but rather to have a very detailed measure of occupational content at a specific point in time. To our knowledge, prior research has used O*NET data only cross-sectionally, with only a couple of exceptions (see Freeman et al., 2020; Ross, 2017). For a detailed discussion of strength and limitations of O*NET database see Handel (2016).

Measures based on survey data

A second empirical approach to task measurement is based on survey data in which respondents indicate the type of activities they perform on their job. This procedure offers some advantages. First, provided each occupation by sector pair has enough observations, the resulting databases allow to analyse the variability of tasks indices within and between jobs. Second, these sources are more suitable to capture changes in task contents (as long as they actually occur). Third, they allow to create new task measures that can be used for testing specific hypotheses. Furthermore, surveys usually include additional information which complement activities performed at work with workers' individual characteristics, such as education and experience, or other attributes of their jobs such as wages or the type of contract. In summary, the potential applications of the task approach to labour market analysis are increased exponentially by making use of survey data.

A widely used data source is the Qualification and Career Survey, a survey of employees carried out by the German Federal Institute for Vocational Training (BIBB) and the Research Institute of the Federal Employment Service (IAB), that offers detailed self-reported data on workers' primary activities at their jobs. The survey is carried out every six years, being the last one (the seventh) 2018. Occupational skill requirements are measured by workers' job duties, represented by the activities that employees actually perform at the workplace. The dataset also includes detailed information on the tools and machines used at the workplace, with a focus on computers, terminals, and electronic data-processing machines. Based on these variables, Spitz-Oener (2006) elaborated indicators that reproduced the categories of the ALM model, adding information on computer use to enrich the analysis. Many other researchers have used the job activity questions in the IAB/BIBB data for the same purpose and the aim of explore links between technological change, the composition of employment and shifts in wage structure (Antonczyk et al., 2010; Dustmann et al., 2009; Senftleben-König and Wielandt, 2014).

In 2014, a new survey was developed by IAB to operationalize five major types of tasks: analytic, interactive, manual, routine, and autonomy-demanding ones. The resulting questionnaire was administered in the fourth panel wave of the German National Educational Panel Study's (NEPS) adult stage. Matthes et al. (2014) use this database to operationalise an extended version of the ALM taxonomy in which routine tasks are defined over two main dimensions, with the peculiarity that it is measured in reverse (that is, by variables that imply the opposite of routine). The first one relates to task complexity (in reverse), measured by variables such as having to react to unforeseen situations, learning new things, or dealing with problems. The second one operates a shift in the conceptual understanding of routine from the standard technical aspect to the organisational one, in line with social psychology school (Breaugh, 1985; Morgeson and Humphrey, 2006). More precisely, the

second dimension of routine is measured as (lack of) autonomy, defined as the capacity for the employees to make autonomous decisions, defining goals and organizing the work necessary to achieve these goals.

Michael J. Handel, another pioneer scholar in the field, created the Skills, Technology, and Management Practices (STAMP) survey, explicitly designed to overcome the limitations of the O*NET by capturing tasks at the worker level. STAMP is a U.S. nationally representative two-waves panel survey of employed adults, although the number of observations (2,304) is rather low to map the occupational structure at a detailed level. The survey contains approximately 166 unique items on job characteristics, covering skills and task requirements in terms of a detailed list of intellectual activities (reading, mathematics, problem-solving, visuals) and a broader category for physical tasks required at work. It also includes ICT and non-ICT technology; employee involvement practices; autonomy, supervision and authority (Handel, 2008, 2016).

The STAMP questions were subsequently revised, leading to the Princeton Data Improvement Initiative (PDII) led by Alan Krueger, Ed Freeland and Bill Barron, and conducted only in 2008, reducing the scope for dynamic analysis. Also, this survey has been used to refine the ALM by including physical tasks, repetitive tasks, managing/supervising, problem solving, and maths (Autor and Handel, 2013). Blinder and Krueger (2013) and Goos et al. (2014) have also used the PDII to generate an index to measure the offshorability of jobs.

The OECD Survey of Adult Skills (PIAAC) measures adults' proficiency in key information-processing skills (literacy, numeracy and problem solving), and gathers information on how adults use their skills at work and in the wider community. This survey is conducted in over 40 countries. For that reason, it has been widely used to produce indices aimed to measure the skill and the task content of work (De La Rica et al., 2020; Górka et al., 2017; Martínez-Matute and Villanueva, 2020; Nedelkoska and Quintini, 2018; OECD, 2016; Vignoles and Cherry, 2020).

Last but not least, there is an important European survey that is worth considering: the European Working Conditions Survey (EWCS). Developed by Eurofound, it was launched in 1990, aimed to provide an overview of working conditions in Europe. This survey is conducted every five years⁴ and contains information about the everyday reality and the activities of men and women at work. Joling and Kraan (2008) and Salvatori et al. (2018) propose an indicator of machine use at work based on the EWCS survey to study the association between technology use and job quality. Sebastian-Lago (2018) investigates the main determinants behind job polarisation in Spain between 1994 and 2014. Using this database, the author analyses employment changes of different jobs, classified on the basis of their task content as abstract, routine, and manual (similar to the standard ALM model). Finally, Bisello et al. (2019) also rely on this source to analyse changes in the task content, methods and tools of European jobs from 1995 to 2015, drawing on the taxonomy of tasks proposed by Fernández-Macías et al. (2016a; 2016b). From the complete list of indices of the original proposal, only a restricted number could be investigated due to changes in the survey questionnaire across different waves (these were indices capturing physical strength, social interaction, autonomy, routine, machines and computers use).

As we have illustrated above, the use of task indices in social sciences research has considerably increased in the last two decades. Although the task approach is still very popular, and there are more and more databases available which include information about what workers do, most studies still focus on just one or a few types of job task, depending on the specific research interests of the authors. Therefore, we think that a comprehensive and well-structured database of task indicators which is freely available for any interested researcher can be a useful contribution to this field. Following the framework and taxonomy presented in Fernández-Macías and Bisello (2020), not only we include indicators that have been widely used in task research in recent years (routine, manual,

⁴ The fieldwork for the last wave, due to take place in 2020, was postponed due to the COVID-19 crisis.

cognitive, etc), but also others less frequently used such as problem-solving tasks, several specific types of social interaction tasks, several work organisation measures as well as indicators of technology used. This should allow researchers to expand the focus beyond traditional explanations of recent changes in the labour market, allowing them to consider other factors and dynamics.

The JRC-Eurofound taxonomy of tasks: an overview

The taxonomy which underlies our database, presented in Table 1 below and discussed in detail in Fernández-Macías and Bisello (2020), was constructed in two steps. First, a detailed review of the recent empirical social sciences literature that referred to the concept of tasks was made to create an inventory of the types of tasks discussed. For instance, the literature on the impact of technology on employment tends to focus on two main types of tasks (cognitive and routine), although other types are sometimes mentioned (interactive, service and manual, for instance); while the literature on trade often focuses on social interaction tasks to capture the offshorability character of them, etc. Secondly, a material and organisational model of work was developed to provide a conceptual structure to the mentioned inventory of tasks, and to identify and fill gaps where necessary. The result is the hierarchical taxonomy of tasks presented in Table 1.

The first dimension of the taxonomy refers the contents of tasks. This dimension looks at work from a material perspective, as a transformative activity upon an object, tasks being discrete units of that work. Hence, on the basis of the type of object being transformed, there is a first threefold differentiation between physical tasks (operated upon objects), intellectual tasks (operated upon ideas or information) and social tasks (operated upon social relations). Within each of those upperlevel categories of task contents, there are additional nested classifications based on the type of transformation and the skills typically required to perform them. For instance, intellectual tasks are first differentiated into information processing and problem solving. Information processing is then further differentiated into the processing of uncodified (visual or auditory) information, and the processing of codified information. Then, the processing of codified information is further differentiated into literacy (processing of textual information) and numeracy (processing of numeric information). And finally, literacy is further subdivided into business, technical and humanities. Therefore, this particular branch of the taxonomy has 6 levels (from task contents to the processing of technical textual information). The taxonomy is therefore hierarchical although not symmetric in its depth (some branches are more differentiated than others), and the different branches can be compared at equivalent levels (so "strength" in physical tasks has a similar level of generality as "information processing" in intellectual tasks or "caring" in social tasks).

The second dimension refers to the methods and tools of work. Whereas the task contents dimension reflects directly the material properties of the work process (the type of object being transformed and the type of transformation operated upon it), the methods and tools dimension reflects the socially determined forms of work organisation and the technologies used in production. In terms of work methods (or forms of work organisation), three main categories are identified: autonomy, teamwork and routine. In terms of tools (or technologies used at work), a differentiation between analog and digital machinery is made. As in the case of task content, most of the upper-level branches of the taxonomy are further distinguished at different levels.

Whereas the overall logic and structure of our taxonomy of tasks remains fully consistent with the previous (2016) version, there have been some changes that are worth specifying. These changes were introduced mostly as a result of subsequent work done with this database (see for instance Bisello et al., 2019; Tolan et al., 2020), which uncovered some gaps for the analysis of the impact of recent technological developments on work. Within physical tasks, a new indicator was added for "navigation", referring to tasks involving moving oneself or objects within changing or unstructured spaces, and within intellectual tasks an indicator for the processing of uncodified (visual or auditory)

information was included.⁵ Within problem solving, each of the two sub-components were further differentiated into two more in order to gain specificity, and within social tasks a new category for "caring" was included. Within methods of work, autonomy was differentiated into the two sub-components of "latitude" (ability to decide) and "control" (mechanisms restraining the workers' decisions), and a third component (uncertainty, in reverse) was added to routine. Finally, robotic technology and specialised ICT were added to the classification of tools used at work. For more details of this version of the taxonomy of tasks, see Fernández-Macías and Bisello (2020).

Table 1: A taxonomy of tasks according to the content of work, methods and tools

1. Physical tasks: aimed at the physical manipulation and transformation of material things: 1. Methods a. Strength: lifting people and heavy loads, exercising strength. b. Dexterity: precisely coordinated movements with hands or fingers. c. Navigation: moving objects or oneself in unstructured or changing spaces l. 2. Intellectual tasks: aimed at the manipulation and transformation of information and the active resolution of problems: a. Information processing: l. a. Information processing: i. Literacy: c. c. i.< Literacy: a. Business: read or write letters, memos, invoices, ll. b. Technical: read or write articles or books. lll. lll. ii.< Numeracy: a. Accounting: calculate prices, fractions, use calculators, lll. b. Problem solving: i. Information gathering and evaluation. b. Dig ii.< Information search and retrieval ll. b. Dig	: forms of work organisation used in performing the tasks: tonomy Latitude: ability to decide working time, task order, methods and speed. Control (in reverse): direct control by boss or clients, monitoring of work. unwork: extent to which the worker has to collaborate and ordinate her actions with other workers tine Repetitiveness: extent to which the worker has to repeat
II. Creativity and resolution i. Creativity ii. Planning/implementation 3. Social tasks: whose primary aim is the interaction with other people: a. Serving/attending: responding directly to demands from public or customers b. Teaching/training/coaching: impart knowledge or instruct others c. Selling/influencing: induce others to do or buy something, negotiate d. Managing/coordinating: coordinate or supervise the behaviour of colleagues e. Caring: provide for the welfare needs of others.	the same procedures Standardisation: extent to which work procedures and outputs are predefined and encoded in a formalised system Uncertainty (in reverse): extent to which the worker needs to respond to unforeseen situations to respond to unforeseen situations to respond to unforeseen situations to digital machinery (analog) <i>vitally-enabled machinery</i> Autonomous (robots) Non-autonomous 1. Computing devices a. Basic ICT (generic office applications) b. Advanced ICT (programming, admin) c. Specialised ICT 2. Others

Source: Fernández-Macías and Bisello (2020)

The construction of the European tasks database

Sources

Despite the interest in tasks performed by workers and the development of a rich strand of interdisciplinary literature using the tasks approach to explain structural change in labour markets, data availability remains poor, with some exceptions. At present there is no data covering all items included in the JRC-EF framework at the European level, nor national sources. However, there exist international, European and national surveys providing a partial coverage of the framework which

⁵ It is worth mentioning that "processing of uncodified (visual or auditory)" has an ambiguous position within the taxonomy of tasks. Although in strict terms, it is information processing and thus fits within the "intellectual" dimension of our index, in fact it is a very physical type of information processing (because it is mostly done unconsciously) and it could also fit in that dimension. As we will see later, this indicator correlates better with the physical task indices than with the intellectual ones. Although for consistency reasons we kept this indicator within the "intellectual" branch of the taxonomy, we have not included it in the upper-level aggregated index of "intellectual tasks".

have been recently used to build a cross country comparable database (Fana et al. 2020). In this paper, in order to operationalise the broad spectrum of items included in the JRC-EF framework, different indicators from three different surveys, whose characteristics are described in this section, are combined.

EWCS

The European Working Conditions Survey (EWCS) is provided by The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound). Launched in 1990, this survey has become an important source of information about working conditions and the quality of work and employment since it enables monitoring long-term trends in these topics in Europe. The scope of the questionnaire has widened substantially since the first edition, aiming to provide a comprehensive picture of the everyday reality of men and women at work. In each wave a random sample of workers (employees and self-employed) has been interviewed face to face. In 2015, Eurofound carried out the last wave (its sixth survey) in the series until the moment, which is used in this paper. This sixth survey interviewed nearly 44,000 workers in 35 countries. Its findings provide detailed information on a broad range of issues, including exposure to physical and psychosocial risks, work organisation, work–life balance, and health and well-being.

ICP 2012

The Italian Indagine Campionaria sulle Professioni (ICP) is provided by INAPP-ISTAT. Launched in 2007, the ICP is an occupational database that replicates extensively the American O*NET database over all building blocks: skill, work contents, attitudes, tasks, technological and organizational characteristics of productive processes and many other subjective and objective indicators on occupations. Both the American O*NET and the Italian ICP use occupations as unit of analysis rather than workers (i.e. occupation-level variables are built relying on both survey-based worker-level information as well as on post-survey validation by experts' focus groups) covering the whole spectrum of the Italian 5-digit occupations excluding armed forces (i.e. 797 occupational codes). The interviews are administered to 16,000 Italian workers ensuring representativeness with respect to sector, occupation, firm size and geographical domain (macro-regions). The sampling strategy is articulated as follows. Relying on a matrix – built using the Italian Labour Force Survey (ILFS) carried out by ISTAT - providing information on the distribution of occupations (in terms of number of employees) across 5-digit sectors, 797 independent samples are generated. Each sample refers to a specific 5-digit occupation and is populated by firms (stratified by region and size class) belonging to the cluster of sectors (circumscribed using the just mentioned occupation-sector matrix) where the probability of finding such specific occupation is above a pre-established threshold. Firms are randomly extracted from the ISTAT-ASIA register (Registro delle imprese attive). Given that the unit of analysis is the occupation at five-digit instead of the individual worker, standard deviations for the tasks indicators are not created as they would reflect variability between occupations belonging to the same broad three-digit group, in contrast with the other two sources using individual data. In the present paper, information from the ICP is drawn from the 2012 wave and the intensity scale (ranging between 0 and 100) is used for all variables.

PIAAC

The OECD Survey of Adult Skills assesses the proficiency of adults aged 15-65 in key informationprocessing skills -literacy, numeracy and problem solving- and gathers information and data on how adults use their skills at home, at work and in the wider community. The survey is conducted in over 40 countries as part of the ongoing Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC). The Survey is administered every 10 years and has had two cycles so far. In the First Cycle, there were three rounds of data collection, between 2011-2018. In 2018, the Second Cycle of the Survey has begun, with results for this cycle to be published in 2024. Apart from measuring the key cognitive and workplace skills, the survey also collects information on demographic characteristics, qualification, work experience, training and use of the skills at work, at home and in the community.

Advantages and limitations of the sources used

As explained above, our database combines information from a workers' survey (EWCS), an individuals' survey (PIAAC) and a mix between a workers' survey and an occupational database (ICP). In the latter case, while the questionnaire is administered to a representative sample of the working population, information is also complemented by experts. From a methodological point of view, using workers' and individuals' surveys allows to dig into tasks profiles within the same job or occupation. In principle, workers employed in the same specific jobs should perform the same or at least a similar bundle of tasks, a hypothesis that can be tested empirically by analysing heterogeneity within jobs.

A common drawback of workers' and individuals' surveys relates to the possibility of introducing subjective elements into the answers, leading to some forms of bias. Other types of problems emerge for the ICP. First, it does not provide any breakdown in terms of economic sectors, and therefore it is not possible to create the tasks indicators at the job level (occupation-by-sector pairs) using only this source of information. Second, although the survey is quite rich in terms of dimensions, it only refers to Italy and therefore using it for other countries might remove differences in tasks profiles emerging from country-specific historical and institutional factors (for an alternative tasks database with the same underlying taxonomy but country-specific variables, see Fana et al., 2020).

Although these limitations cannot be ignored, the availability of larger sample sizes and the possibility of combining multiple questions and sources for the construction of single items mitigates the risk of biased or inconsistent outcomes. Additionally, none of the databases available allows for a full coverage of all the items in our taxonomy, so combining data from different sources is unavoidable in order to construct a comprehensive task database.

It is important to highlight that although the three sources refer to the same employed population (since in the case of PIAAC we filter out those not in employment), they refer to different geographic areas. The EWCS is a European survey, PIAAC covers different OECD countries (many but not all in Europe), and the ICP bases its measurement on Italian workers only. In combining the three sources, and to keep a certain degree of consistency, the sample has been restricted to the EU-15 (minus UK) countries, therefore using both EWCS and PIAAC⁶ information only for those countries. This choice leads to the creation of the task measures which primarily refer to European Western countries.

Mapping of the sources to the taxonomy of tasks

Table 2 shows the sources used for the construction of indices for each category of tasks in the proposed taxonomy. As can be seen, the ICP can provide a more exhaustive coverage of all the elements in the model presented here, while EWCS is very detailed in terms of work organization. PIAAC has very good coverage of intellectual tasks, as well as social and computer use at different levels of proficiency.

Some elements are only covered by one of the sources, while in most cases the indices have been constructed by combining information from two or three sources. Even for the elements that are only covered by one source we have constructed the corresponding indices by using several variables from the same source, except for the case of uncertainty (in reverse), the only index in our framework that has been constructed with one single variable. As most of the variables used are just partial proxies of the concepts of the proposed framework, this redundancy can increase the

⁶ The sample of EU-15 countries that is available in PIAAC 1st round is formed by Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Spain and Sweden.

consistency and robustness of the measure. Having different measures of the same concept is also very useful for testing the validity of this framework, as will be shown later. The only index which could not be operationalised due to lack of suitable data is the one on specialised ICT. Annex 2 contains the full list of variables used across the three sources, including labels and exact wording.

Table 2: Mapping of variables from the different sources into the elements of the JRC-EF taxonomy of tasks

		ICP 2012	EWCS 2015	PIAAC 1st Cycle
Α.	In terms of the content:			
1.	Physical tasks: aimed at the physical manipulation and transformation of material things:			
a.	Strength: lifting people and heavy loads, exercising strength.	х	х	
b.	Dexterity: precisely coordinated movements with hands or fingers.	х		х
c.	Navigation: moving objects or oneself in unstructured or changing spaces	х		
2. a.	Intellectual tasks: aimed at the manipulation and transformation of information and the active resolution of problems: Information processing:			
	 Visual and/or auditory processing of uncodified/unstructured information Processing of codified information 	x		
~	I. Literaty:	v		v
d.	Business read of while letters, memos, involues,	X		X
0.	Reconnical. Read of write mandars, instructions, reports, ionins,	X		×
ι.	iii Numercu:	x		*
a	Accounting: calculate prices fractions use calculators	x		x
h.	Analytic prepare charts use formulas or advanced maths	x		x
b.	Problem solvina:	~		x
~	Information gathering and evaluation.			~
	i. Information search and retrieval	х		
	ii. Conceptualization, learning and abstraction	х	x	x
	II. Creativity and resolution			
	i. Creativity	х	х	
	ii. Planning/implementation	х		
3.	Social tasks: whose primary aim is the interaction with other people:			
a.	Serving/attending: responding directly to demands from public or customers	x		
b.	Teaching/training/coaching: impart knowledge or instruct others	х		x
c.	Selling/influencing: induce others to do or buy something, negotiate	х		x
d.	Managing/coordinating: coordinate or supervise the behaviour of colleagues	х		x
e.	Caring: provide for the welfare needs of others.	x		
в.	In terms of the methods and tools of work:			
1. a.	Methods: forms of work organisation used in performing the tasks: Autonomy			
	 Latitude: ability to decide working time, task order, methods and speed. 	x	x	x
	II. Control (in reverse): direct control by boss or clients, monitoring of work.	X		
р. с.	Teamwork: extent to which the worker has to collaborate and coordinate her actions with other workers Routine	x	x	x
	I. Repetitiveness: extent to which the worker has to repeat the same procedures	х	х	
	II. Standardisation: extent to which work procedures and outputs are predefined and encoded in a formalised system		х	
	III. Uncertainty (in reverse): extent to which the worker needs to respond to unforeseen situations		х	
2.	Tools: type of technology used at work:			
a.	Non-digital machinery (analog)	х	х	
b.	Digitally-enabled machinery			
	I. Autonomous (robots)			
	II. Non-autonomous			
	1. Computing devices		х	х
	a. Basic ICT (generic office applications)			х
	b. Advanced ICT (programming, admin)	х		х
	c. Specialised ICI			
	2. Others			

Construction of the indices

In order to construct the tasks indices from each source, and following the same approach as Fernández-Macías et al. (2016b) the following procedure is adopted:

- For each index, all the potential variables that could match the elements of the framework are identified.
- Given the variable or set of variables related to a specific indicator that have been selected, three main statistical tests have been performed to analyse the correlation and consistency among them. Pairwise correlations and the Cronbach's Alpha tests are run to check the overall correlation of all the items used to measure each single indicator, as well as a Principal Component Factor Analysis to evaluate the consistency of the variables and identify those that did not fit the relevant concept well. It's important to note that in principle variables aimed at measuring the same concept should be highly correlated, although this may not be the case if two variables capture complementary aspects of the same concept or if those variables, while capturing the same concept, are occupation-specific. This means that low correlations should not be necessarily considered a failure of the statistical test, and this has to be specifically considered case by case.
- Once the variables to be combined into a single index (linked to a particular element in our framework) have been selected, they have been rescaled into a 0-1 scale when not already in this format. Then, the selected variables are combined by simply averaging them at each relevant level.
- Forth, the construction of the indices from each source is followed by the computation of their average scores for all the occupation-by-sector combinations (in other words, for each "job" in our terminology) at the two-digit level, using ISCO08 for occupations and NACE Rev. 2 for sector⁷. In the case of the ICP starting from the three digits of the original database tasks indicators are computed at 2-digit occupations (ISCO08). When the data source included the information at the individual worker level (as for the EWCS and PIAAC), also the standard deviation and number of workers in the sample are computed, for later analysis.

As previously shown in Table 1, the tasks framework has a nested structure which has been replicated in the construction of the indices from each source. In practice, while the aggregation of individual variables has been performed using the highest level of detail, the construction of indices at higher levels was carried out by simply averaging the indices below as indicated by the nested structure. This ensures that the values of the indices at higher levels are consistent with the lower levels and will allow later to break down any high-level score into its lower-level components in order to understand it better.

Once the set of possible indices from each source has been created, information from the three sources is combined by appending the three databases; next, employment weighted average tasks scores for all jobs are computed merging the complete database with employment data from an adhoc extraction of European Labour Force Survey (EU-LFS) 2019 at the EU-15 (minus UK) level provided at ISCO08 two digit and NACE REv.2 at the same level of detail.

Consistency across sources and variables

Before averaging scores across the three sources, a new round of consistency tests by means of correlation, principal component factor analysis and Cronbach's Alpha test - reported in Table 3 - has been performed to check whether, within and between sources, variables consistently capture the same concept and tasks dimension.

⁷ Sampling weights at the individual level were used to compute weighted averages at the job level for EWCS and PIAAC.

Physical tasks

Each index belonging to physical tasks is measured using several variables from one or more sources. Strength is constructed with indicators from the EWCS and the ICP, Dexterity is constructed with indicators from the ICP and PIAAC and Navigation is constructed with two indicators from the ICP. From the pairwise correlations performed, we can observe a positive and significant association between sources for both Strength and Dexterity (0.7). Pooling together all indicators (from different sources) into a principal component factor analysis results into a single factor, indicating a strong coherence in capturing one single main dimension: physical tasks.

Intellectual tasks

The different indices referring to intellectual tasks are constructed with variables from the EWCS, the ICP and PIAAC. Also, in this case, the correlations among sources are always high. The pairwise correlations between indices from different sources are always above 0.70 with only three exceptions: technical literacy (0.53), creativity (0.59) and in the case of Conceptualization, learning and abstraction (for this index we use variables from three sources, and in two cases the correlations are lower than 0.7: the index from PIAAC and the one from the EWCS have a coefficient of 0.55, while the index from PIAAC and the one from the ICP have a coefficient of 0.56).

Using a principal component factor analysis, five factors (82% of variance explained) emerge, confirming the multifaceted character of intellectual tasks. More than sorting indicators according to the conceptual framework, factor analysis bundles indices built within the same source, although not perfectly. Therefore, Factor 1 includes all ICP indices but Visual/auditory and Analytical numeracy; Factor 2 and 3, include PIAAC indices differentiating between all components for Numeracy and Business literacy on the one hand and literacy and conceptualization on the other. Factor 4 accounts for visual/auditory processing of uncodified information, as well as technical literacy and analytical numeracy from the ICP. It is worth noticing that the correlation between visual and auditory processing of uncodified information and all five factors is rather low compared to all other indices, confirming its peculiarity within the Intellectual bundle of tasks. Finally, Factor 5 includes both creativity and conceptualization built using the EWCS.

Social tasks

Social tasks are measured both in PIAAC and the ICP, apart from serving/attending and caring which are only available in the ICP database. The indicators are all positively and significantly correlated with each other although with different degrees. Between sources, each pair of indicators is highly correlated (0.6 or more), for example the correlation between the ICP and PIAAC indicator for managing/coordinating is 0.68 while for training/coaching it reaches 0.8. Using a principal component factor analysis, two factors emerge: the first capturing teaching/training, managing/coordinating and selling/influencing from both sources; the second capturing serving/attending and caring activities only present in the ICP.

Methods of work

Autonomy is consistently measured across the three sources and the indicators are highly correlated with each other. At the same time, latitude is negatively correlated with routine and teamwork at least using the indicator from PIAAC. The same holds for routine and its sub-indicator repetitiveness positively and significantly correlated across sources. In line with expectations, repetitiveness and uncertainty are negatively correlated with all variables measuring latitude and control but also teamwork in most of the cases.

The factor analysis returns quite consistent results. Three factors emerge. The first groups indicators for latitude and control, the second captures routine and the third teamwork. The indicator for uncertainty negatively correlates with all the three factors, as could be expected. It is worth highlighting that the relative lower level of the Alpha Cronbach's test for methods of work compared

to the other dimensions is a reasonable result. In fact, the three indicators (routine, teamwork and autonomy) relate to three qualitative different aspects of work organisation (whereas the subcomponents of the other indices are related to the same underlying factors/concepts).

Tools

Use of non-digital machines is measured in the EWCS and the ICP, and the correlation analysis shows a positive and significant association between the two sources (0.72). As expected, the two measures are instead negatively correlated with all other indicators capturing the use of digital tools at work. High consistency is also found for the ICT indicator for which the correlation among three sources is above 0.7. A similar conclusion applies to the sub-indicator for advanced ICT tool measured both in the ICP and PIAAC. Lastly, the principal component factor analysis is coherent with outcomes of the pairwise correlation, grouping indicators into two main factors: the first factor groups non-digital machines for both the ICP and PIAAC; while the second factor bundles all the indicators related to digital tools across sources.

Table 3: Cronbach's Alpha test across	sources and task macro-dimension
---------------------------------------	----------------------------------

	Physical	Intellectual	Social	Methods	Tools
Alpha Test	0.77	0.96	0.87	0.71	0.86

Source: ICP 2012, EWCS 2015 and PIAAC (1st cycle)

After showing consistency within indicators belonging to each dimension, a factor analysis has been performed on the entire framework to capture how indicators sort together exhibiting conceptual coherence. According to the analysis (see Table A2), most of intellectual tasks measuring literacy and numeracy get grouped together with the use of basic ICT tools, while the majority of intellectual tasks measuring problem solving, latitude and control, as well as social tasks for teaching, selling/influencing and managing are grouped into a second factor. A third factor includes business literacy, information search and retrieval and advanced ICT use. Then, the fourth factor captures physical tasks together with use of non-digital machines. Finally, caring and serving/attending are grouped together, as well as all indicators forming the routine measure. In sum, this factor analysis of all the low-level indicators overlaps with the structure of the taxonomy to a significant extent (confirming the validity of the underlying model of task contents, methods and tools), but also reveals interesting patterns of correlation between different branches of the taxonomy that reflect how different types of task contents, methods and tools are bundled in real-life jobs and workplaces. In a later section, we discuss this bundling issue in more detail.

Describing the distribution of employment from a task perspective

The methodology adopted in the previous section allows to transform our tasks taxonomy into a comprehensive tasks database at the EU-15 (minus UK) level, using jobs (defined as two-digit occupation by two-digit sector pairs) as unit of analysis.

To start from the aggregate picture, Figure 1 shows summary statistics, including the average task scores for all workers in all jobs in the EU-15 and information about the dispersion of values around the mean. This figure has been constructed averaging each task score across all jobs weighted by their employment level in the EU-15 (minus UK) in 2019. This way we can get an approximation to the task profile of the average worker in Europe. In terms of the content of work, it can be noted that the most frequent type of tasks in European employment is intellectual (in particular, problem-solving tasks), whereas physical tasks have a much lower prevalence and social tasks are somewhere

in between. The dispersion of values around the mean and their distribution also vary significantly across task categories. Some problem-solving tasks (conceptualization, learning and abstraction and creativity), autonomy, teamwork and standardisation have high scores and a low dispersion and are thus very widespread task types (all jobs have those types of tasks contents). On the other hand, business and humanities literacy and information search and retrieval have high scores but high dispersion, suggesting a more polarised distribution (some jobs have a lot of task content of those types, other jobs very little).

Among the three subdimensions of physical tasks, dexterity has the highest prevalence and strength the lowest one. When we explore the distribution of physical dexterity by occupation, as expected it emerges that highest scores are found for market-oriented foresters, fishers and hunting workers, as well as metal, machinery and related trades workers, but also health (associated) professionals.

Intellectual tasks exhibit overall high average values, compared to physical and social ones, suggesting that most of European workers perform some intellectual tasks in the execution of their duties at work. However, it is more likely that a worker is engaged in problem solving activities than in the processing of codified information (whether literacy or numeracy related). This finding should not come as a surprise if information processing is interpreted as the use of explicit knowledge for specific work activities, while problem solving involves both explicit and tacit knowledge. According to this interpretation, the processing of codified information, like reading/writing whether for general and/or specialised purposes, characterises the job of fewer workers who belong more likely to the middle and top of the occupational distribution (from managers to clerks). On the contrary, activities involving conceptualisation/learning and creativity (even if they are not embedded into formalised activities) are more widespread across occupations. This interpretation finds preliminary confirmation in the summary statistics reported in Figure 1, according to which information gathering and evaluation, and creativity and resolution, show high average values but low dispersion, while the relative dispersion for literacy and numeracy is higher. The distribution of intellectual tasks by occupational breakdown reported in Table A3 also supports these arguments. High levels of information gathering, and creativity and resolution characterize not only managers, professionals and clerks but also protective service workers, handicraft and printing workers electrical and electronic trades workers and subsistence farmers, fishers, hunters and gatherers. The same does not hold with respect to (codified) information processing, whose score is high only for the former group.

Serving/attending is the type of social task that is more common in European employment, while managing/coordinating is the least frequent. The structural shift from manufacturing to service activities partly explains the relatively high frequency of social tasks in European employment. This historical shift, even considering the wide heterogeneities across European countries, results into a high share of employment occupied in activities requiring contact with the public. An extreme example is provided by sales workers (the occupation with highest values for serving/attending), counting 10,5 million workers in 2019. But hospitality, retail and other services managers, health professionals, customer services clerks, personal service workers and street and related sales and service workers also require an intense use of these tasks. In line with expectations, managing and coordinating activities are on average less frequent, reflecting the concentration of hierarchical power within organisations.

In terms of the methods of work, aggregate figures feature relatively high levels of autonomy and teamwork, but also some routine (in particular, with respect to work standardisation). Teamwork and, more markedly, autonomy display higher dispersion compared to routine indicators, suggesting a more polarised distribution for the first two tasks. High scores of autonomy mostly characterise managerial and professional occupations, and to a lower extent electrical and electronic trades workers, but also handicraft and printing workers and market-oriented agricultural workers. From a qualitative point of view, autonomy for managers is different than for electricians: indeed, the latter are relatively more often self-employed or micro-entrepreneurs bearing mainly external control,

from clients or customers. Managers or chief executives, instead, enjoy great autonomy within a more complex organisation. On the other hand, our evidence is in line with evidence presented in the European Jobs Monitor 2016 (EJM 2016), according to which tasks are generally highly standardised along the entire occupational distribution, although less repetitive. This is a quite interesting result being routine the most debated job attribute in tasks-analysis. According to our data, only very few but relevant occupations, such as personal care workers and sales workers, show levels of standardisation more than one standard deviation below the average score. Yet, being standardised does not necessarily imply high levels of repetitiveness, as it is the case for different professional occupations. In short, while repetitive activities usually imply high levels of standardisation (as in the case of stationary plant and machine operators), the opposite is not necessarily true (see for instance science and engineering associate professionals). This peculiar distribution of indicators measuring routine across occupations (see Figure 5 in the appendix) result in an overall indicator with low variability. As already discussed, this outcome is not a weakness of our measure but rather the consequence of the different ways in which standardisation and repetitiveness behave across different occupations.

Finally, in terms of the tools used at work, computing devices and in particular basic ICT are much more frequent than analog machines but also than advanced ICT tools, which is not surprising. High scores in the use of basic ICT mostly characterise managerial and professional occupations and clerks, and to a lower extent protective service workers and electrical and electronic trades workers. The way ICT Tools distribute across occupations and its association with other task indicators is of paramount importance to understand how tasks bundle together within occupations. From this perspective, our results are in line with the recent literature pointing to a positive association between standardisation and ICT (Bisello et al., 2019). This is the case for different categories within the Technical and Associate professionals group, as well as for Numerical and material recording clerks. At the same time, these are occupations showing higher levels of different types of intellectual tasks. According to this evidence, the relationship between basic ICT deployment, content and methods of work is less straightforward. Relatively high complex intellectual tasks can be simultaneously complementary to information technologies and standardised practices, and therefore routine. Another interesting result, also coherent to some extent with Bisello et al. (2019), refers to the relationship between the use of ICT tools and social tasks. While high levels of managing and coordinating are associated with high level of ICT use, the opposite does not hold, suggesting that the concentration of managerial power is unrelated to technological complementarities. Furthermore, while in general selling and influencing activities are positively correlated with ICT use, serving and attending ones do not, especially in the case of clerical workers.

Figure	1: Average	task scores	for	EU-15,	2019

				Dist	ribution	(percent	iles 5, 25,	
Task indices	<u>Sur</u>	nmary stati	istics	Lines link average value				
In terms of the content of work:	Mean	Std dev	cv	0	0.25	0.5	0.75	
1. Physical	0.34	0.17	0.51		-		-	
a. Strength	0.20	0.14	0.70					
b. Dexterity	0.49	0.21	0.43				 .	
c Navigation	0.32	0.20	0.64	-				
2. Intellectual	0.50	0.19	0.39				-	
a. Information processing	0.44	0.20	0.45	_			_	
I. Visual and/or auditory processing of uncodified/unstructured in	0.26	0.21	0.82	-				
II. Processing of codified information	0.44	0.20	0.45	_				
i. Literacy	0.47	0.21	0.45	-				
a. Business	0.52	0.25	0.49	-		5	-	
b. Technical	0.37	0.17	0.47	_				
c. Humanities	0.52	0.25	0.49	-		5		
ii. Numeracy	0.41	0.20	0.49					
a. Accounting	0.45	0.23	0.52	-		5		
b. Analytic	0.36	0.20	0.54			\sub		
b Problem solving	0.57	0.21	0.37			\sim		
L Information gathering & evaluation	0.60	0.24	0.39					
i Information search and retrieval	0.58	0.31	0.54			(
ii Concentualization learning and abstraction	0.62	0.18	0.29					
II. Creativity and resolution	0.54	0.21	0.39			\neg		
i Creativity	0.62	0.18	0.29					
ii Planning	0.47	0.25	0.54					
3 Social	0.40	0.15	0.39				-	
a Serving/ attending	0.50	0.27	0.53			\		
b. Teaching/ trainin/ coachig	0.35	0.19	0.56	_				
c. Sellina/ influencina	0.44	0.19	0.42	-		⋝┶⊢		
d. Managing/ coordinating	0.31	0.16	0.50	-				
e. Caring	0.39	0.25	0.63	-				
In terms of the methods and the tools of work								
1. Methods								
a. Autonomy	0.53	0.19	0.35				-	
I. Latitude	0.54	0.16	0.29		-			
II. Control (in reverse)	0.51	0.23	0.45				- -	
b. Teamwork	0.57	0.14	0.25					
c. Routine	0.50	0.10	0.20			-7-		
I. Repetitiveness	0.36	0.16	0.46			\sub		
II. Standardization	0.59	0.17	0.28		-		¬⊢	
III. Uncertainty (in reverse)	0.56	0.15	0.26		-	_7	ī	
2. Tools							-	
a. Non-digital machinery (analog)	0.22	0.22	0.99	-	<u> </u>		_	
1. Computing devices	0.39	0.26	0.67				-	
a. Basic ICT	0.59	0.23	0.39			$\overline{}$		
b. Advanced ICT	0.16	0.15	0.88	-	\rightarrow			

Note: Employment shares in each job derived from the EULFS 2019 data were used for weighting the indices. *Source*: JRC – Eurofound European database of tasks indices.

An inspection of the task profile of 4 significant jobs

Sorting jobs according to their employment size, the four biggest jobs, i.e., those employing the highest number of workers at the EU-15 level, are sales workers in retail trade (except motor vehicles); teaching professionals in education, personal service workers in food and beverage service activities, and health professionals in human health sector. Because of their importance in terms of employment, the comparison of tasks profiles among these jobs is very illustrative (see Figure 2 and Figure 3), although not representative of the overall employment structure. For instance, these jobs

all refer to the service sector but very different economic activities; while looking at the vertical division of labour it can be appreciated that the occupational component varies considerably among them.

The distribution of social and intellectual tasks varies more than physical ones across the four jobs. In terms of the latter, there is relative similarity in terms of strength and navigation, while more heterogeneity is found for dexterity, being higher for health professionals and personal service workers. As for intellectual tasks, sales workers show on average less intensity across all indices, while health and teaching professionals are characterized by very high levels of problem solving. Figure 2 also shows average distributions for social tasks which are highly heterogeneous across jobs. First, each job is characterised by a very high (above 0.8) intensity in at least one of the social tasks included in the framework. Second, apart from sales workers, most social activities are carried with medium or high intensity pointing to a multifaced profile among big jobs. Exceptions refer to selling/influencing and managing/coordinating, the former being similar across the four illustrated jobs, while the latter being significantly lower for sales worker with respect to the other jobs.



Figure 2: Tasks profile in terms of content across big jobs

Source: JRC – Eurofound European database of tasks indices

Looking at methods of work, while average scores for autonomy and teamwork differ, the level of routine is quite similar and above 0.6 across the four big jobs. The lower dispersion of routine among these jobs results from the construction of the index as the average of repetitiveness, standardisation and uncertainty (in reverse).⁸ More specifically, while for Sales and Personal service workers the levels of repetitiveness and standardisation are similar, for Professionals it is not,

⁸ See Figure 5 in Appendix for detailed scores across Occupations.

therefore averaging them reduces the overall dispersion. Still, similar average scores of routine tasks across occupations is an interesting result challenging the idea that workers performing more complex intellectual tasks, like problem solving, would be characterized by less routine. Once routine is measured as a multi-dimensional concept, this claim holds only for the case of repetitiveness, but not for standardization or uncertainty. Furthermore, Sales and Personal care workers are endowed with less autonomy, while only Sales workers also show low levels of teamwork compared to the others. In any case, while task contents are very strongly associated to occupational demarcations and thus the differences in task content indicators across occupations are very significant, task methods are determined by different forms of work organization which are not so occupationspecific, but instead determined by issues such as establishment size, cultural norms or industrial relations systems. The indicators of task methods, in other words, do not vary so much across occupations but across countries, sectors or different types of establishments.

Finally, figure 3 reports average scores for tools used at work. Overall, machinery is less used than ICT, which is not surprising as the use of machines characterize manufacturing and agricultural activities more than the service sector. However, even the use of ICT is quite heterogeneous across jobs, with teaching and health professionals characterized by substantial higher levels of use compared to sales and personal care workers.



Figure 3: Tasks profile in terms of methods of work and tools use across big jobs

Source: JRC – Eurofound European database of tasks indices

This analysis of the tasks profile across relevant jobs at the European level is quite consistent with similar analysis performed in the European Job Monitor 2016. While evidence presented in this paper is qualitatively in line with the abovementioned work, with relevant jobs preserving their ordinal position for each indicator, our data show different cardinality within this rank. For example, Sales workers are endowed with lower autonomy levels than Teaching and Health Professionals in both studies; however, the differences in absolute score is higher in our data than in EJM 2016. Similar considerations apply to other indicators as ICT tools used at work as well as problem solving. This

comparison shows that the new tasks database reflects higher dispersion levels in the distribution of task indicators, suggesting an improvement in overall quality of the data.

Bundling of tasks across European jobs

One of the key advantages of using a detailed and comprehensive framework rather than a general and fragmentary approach to task analysis is that it allows to evaluate thoroughly how different types of task content, methods and tools interact with each other. An initial assessment of the distribution of the task scores for individual jobs showed that the different task categories seemed to be associated in particular ways: such task interactions can be as important for characterising jobs as the individual task scores themselves, so they merit specific analysis.

Table 4 shows the bivariate correlations between all the indices in the framework, at all levels. This allows to evaluate associations among indices after the aggregation of all the three sources into final indicators. Correlations between indices at the highest level of aggregation are reported in bold, while some interesting combinations of tasks are highlighted in blue.

Correlations within domains of task content

The table shows that physical and intellectual tasks are quite consistent internally. In the case of physical tasks, which have three components, the highest correlation is between tasks that require high levels of physical exertion and stamina (referred to in the index as 'strength') and manual dexterity (0.81). Somewhat lower positive correlations, but still above 0.6, are found instead for the index of navigation, that captures tasks of a slightly different nature, such as moving objects or oneself in unstructured or changing spaces.

The much more detailed set of indicators of intellectual tasks also show quite high levels of consistency, with most bivariate correlations above 0.6. The notable exception is visual and/or auditory processing of uncodified/unstructured information, which consistently displays negative correlations with all the other indices in the intellectual domain. In strict terms it is information processing, yet it is of a fundamentally different nature from the processing of codified information (and problem solving). In light of the peculiar nature of such index, which is somewhat between physical and intellectual, it was decided not to include it neither in the index of information processing nor in the overall index on intellectual tasks. By keeping it separate (at least empirically) one can still analyse it on its own, without generating meaningless average values.

Social task content, on the other hand, is less internally consistent, except in the categories of managing/coordinating and teaching/coaching or selling/influencing, which often coexist in the same jobs (correlations above 0.7 in the case of both combinations). The tasks of serving and attending are meaningfully related only with selling/influencing, while they display much lower correlations with other social tasks. Finally, caring is certainly the most unique type of social work activity: indeed, providing for the welfare needs of others is a stand-alone task that is not often combined with others. Consequently, even though all the categories of tasks included within the social domain are conceptually related, they are generally not all bundled together in the same jobs.

Correlation between indices of task content

In terms of task content, and in line with expectations, physical tasks are negatively correlated with intellectual tasks (-0.64) and to a lesser extent to social tasks (-0.52). This means that jobs that involve a significant amount of physical tasks tend to involve less intellectual or social tasks, and vice versa. This is particularly the case for physical strength, while less so for navigation. The notable exception is clearly visual/auditory processing of uncodified information, as already anticipated above. This intellectual index is indeed strongly linked to physical tasks (especially navigation, 0.95)

because it refers to the physical act of perceiving the environment, and therefore is a crucial component of "hand-eye coordination". Finally, it is interesting to note there are some interesting distinctions: for instance, technical literacy tasks are not so negatively correlated with physical dexterity or navigation tasks. This brings the overall correlation down to only -0.33, suggesting that some physically intensive jobs require technical literacy as well.

On the other hand, social tasks tend to show positive correlations with intellectual tasks (0.66), although again with some important distinctions at a higher level of disaggregation. Overall, managing/coordinating and selling/influencing display more consistently high positive correlations with almost all intellectual tasks (notably in terms of problem-solving), with the partial exceptions of technical literacy and to a lesser extent analytic numeracy. On the contrary, serving/attending and caring show the weakest positive correlations with intellectual tasks indices, and at times even negative (there is for instance a clear negative association between numeracy tasks and caring). It is no surprise that serving and caring are also showing much milder negative correlations with physical tasks.

The remaining category of social tasks, teaching, is somewhere in the middle: it is positively and strongly associated with problem solving tasks, but much less with information processing. Finally, all social tasks correlate negatively with visual/auditory processing of uncodified information, although to a less extent compared to intellectual tasks (the correlation is almost 0 for caring tasks).

Correlation between the task content and the task methods and tools

The correlation between the task content and the task methods and tools domains also reveals some interesting patterns. Physical tasks tend to be associated with less autonomy (both in terms of latitude and control), more routine (particularly in terms of repetitiveness), high use of non-digital machinery and less use of computing devices. The opposite happens to all intellectual tasks, again with the notable exception of visual/auditory processing of uncodified information. Figure 1 displays graphically the correlations between the tree main dimensions of task content and two key indices of work methods and tools, that is routine tasks and ICT use.

In terms of methods of work, problem solving tasks are those which are more correlated with teamwork (ranging from 0.44 of creativity to 0.56 of abstraction), a dimension which is otherwise less strongly related to all other indices of task content. Technical literacy presents milder correlations with all indices of methods and tools, apart from the use of advanced ICT which stands at 0.72. Technical and numeracy (analytic) tasks are those which are less negatively correlated with routine work methods and the use of non-digital machinery, suggesting that there are several industrial-type jobs which require intellectual tasks of such kind.

Social tasks tend to be similar to intellectual tasks when it comes to correlations with tasks methods and tools, with the exception of caring and serving, which lie somewhere between physical and intellectual (less autonomy and slightly more repetitiveness, and less use computer use compared to other categories of social tasks).⁹

⁹ Some of the correlations between the indices for methods and tools (not shown here) are also interesting. Autonomy is negatively correlated with routine and machinery, but positively with ICT. The relationship between routine and tools is different for the three routine components: repetitiveness is positively correlated with machinery (0.62) and negatively with ICT (-0.75); standardization and uncertainty (in reverse) display a much weaker positive correlation with machinery (0.37 and 0.28) respectively, and relates quite differently to computer use, with correlations close to zero in the former case, and around -0.41 in the latter.

Table 4: Bivariate correlations between different task indices. [Click to enlarge it]

AL Hummer the relation 0.49 0.41 0.43 0.41 0.4		1. Physical	a. Strength	b. <i>Dextenity</i> c.Mo <i>viaation</i>	2. Intellectual	a. Info process ing	Vi and U and it cars	and a construction of the second seco	III. Codified info	i. Uteracy	a. Busines	b.Technical	c. Hu manities	ii. Numeracy	a. Accounting	b. Analytic	b. Problem solving	L. Evaluation	i. Info search	ii. Abstraction	II. Resolution	I. Creativity	ii. Planning	3.Social	a. Serving	b. Teaching	c. Setting	a.wo.roging	e. caring
 I. Proof: Integration and ration diversion of material states integration and ration states of material states integration and ration and ratio and ration and ratio and ration and ration and ration and ratio and ration and ratio and rati ratio and ratio and ratio and ratio and ratio and ratio and	A. In terms of the content:																												
in process and services (noise) 0.000000000000000000000000	 Physical tasks: aimed at the physical manipulation and transformation of material things: 																												
	 Strength: lifting people and heavy loads, exercising strength. 	0.89																											
	b. Dexterity: precisely coordinated movements with hands or fingers.	0.91	0.81																										
2. Interaction distance induced manufactor inducation inducation inducation inducation inducation inducation inducation inducation. 40.4 0.7 0.8 0.6 1 1. Variable indication. 0.06 0.6	c. Navigation: moving objects or oneself in unstructured or changing spaces	0.86	0.64	0.62	_																								
	Intellectual tasks: aimed at the manipulation and transformation of information and the active resolution of problems:	-0.64	-0.75	-0.65 -	0.48																								
I. Virual and/or additionational endownational endownatened endownatenes endownatenedownational endownational	a. Information processing:	-0.67	-0.76	-0.67 -	0.52	0.95																							
1. Processing of confidential alloandation 4.07 4.	 Visual and/or auditory processing of uncodified/unstructured information* 	0.84	0.63	0.63	0.95	-0.50 -	0.55																						
Description Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescription< th=""></thdescription<></thdescription<>	II. Processing of codified information	-0.67	-0.76	-0.67 -	0.52	0.95	1.00	-0.55																					
	i. Literacy:	-0.66	-0.77	-0.68 -	0.51	0.95	0.96	-0.51	0.96																				
1. Certaining and advisations, regard, matrixed, regard, regard for advisation and advisations, regard for advisat	 Business: read or write letters, memos, invoices, 	-0.71	-0.79	-0.73 -	0.57	0.91	0.94	-0.56	0.94	0.98																			
c number relations 1/1 <	b. Technical: read or write manuals, instructions, reports, forms,	-0.33	-0.51	-0.35 -	0.20	0.77	0.75	-0.20	0.75	0.78	0.63																		
	c. Humanities: read or write articles or books.	-0.71	-0.79	-0.73 -	0.57	0.91	0.94	-0.56	0.94	0.98	1.00	0.63																	
According activity and press instantions, use activity and press. According activity and press. Acc	ii. Numeracy:	-0.62	-0.68	-0.60 -	0.48	0.87	0.95	-0.55	0.95	0.83	0.81	0.64	0.81																
b. And/finite granues during or allowed multis -100 a	 Accounting: calculate prices, fractions, use calculators, 	-0.62	-0.66	-0.60 -	0.55	0.78	0.90	-0.59	0.90	0.79	0.82	0.47	0.82	0.94															
b. Notice get matching methods and business get matching. 1. b. data data data data data data data dat	b. Analytic: prepare charts, use formulas or advanced maths	-0.52	-0.61	-0.52 -	0.34	0.86	0.87	-0.42	0.87	0.76	0.68	0.75	0.68	0.92	0.74														
1. In thermation plantane, plantane, and and a statution. 1. Dia 1.	b. Problem solving:	-0.56	-0.69	-0.57 -	0.40	0.96	0.83	-0.41	0.83	0.85	0.81	0.73	0.81	0.72	0.59	0.77													
1. Conceptionalization and information 440<	 Information gathering and evaluation. 	-0.59	-0.71	-0.61 -	0.43	0.93	0.82	-0.41	0.82	88.0	0.85	0.74	0.85	0.68	0.57	0.72	0.96												
	 Information search and retrieval 	-0.68	-0.74	-0.67 -	0.44	0.91	0.83	-0.43	0.83	0.90	0.87	0.72	0.87	0.68	0.58	0.70	0.92	0.98											
I. Creativity and metalation 410	ii. Conceptualization, learning and abstraction	-0.50	-0.60	-0.51 -	0.37	0.90	0.77	-0.35	0.77	0.82	0.77	0.73	0.77	0.65	0.52	0.71	0.95	0.95	0.88										
1. Landong 1.04 0.04	II. Creativity and resolution	-0.51	-0.59	-0.49 -	0.33	0.89	0.76	-0.36	0.76	0.74	0.70	0.65	0.70	0.71	0.57	0.77	0.94	0.81	0.75	0.85									
b. harmacly amplementation -155 -16	i. Creativity	-0.42	-0.51	-0.41 -	0.24	0.77	0.62	-0.27	0.62	0.61	0.58	0.54	0.58	0.57	0.44	0.65	0.85	0.69	0.62	0.77	0.95								
1 Solid Math. Mode primery and in the interaction with interaction. 4.52 4.56 4.66 0.56 0.56 0.56 0.66 <	ii. Planning/implementation	-0.55	-0.61	-0.52 -	0.37	0.92	0.81	-0.40	0.81	0.79	0.75	0.68	0.75	0.76	0.63	0.81	0.95	0.84	0.80	0.85	0.97	0.85							
And set of the set o	Social tasks: whose primary aim is the interaction with other people:	-0.52	-0.56	-0.48 -	0.40	0.66	0.55	-0.37	0.55	0.59	0.63	0.31	0.63	0.46	0.44	0.40	0.71	0.63	0.61	0.64	0.74	0.70	0.73						
b. Teaching framming/conduming: maintravewelkge of initiar theore welkses - Add	 Serving/attending: responding directly to demands from public or customers 	-0.35	-0.32	-0.26 -	0.35	0.22	0.23	-0.30	0.23	0.24	0.33	-0.06	0.33	0.20	0.34	0.00	0.18	0.11	0.10	0.12	0.24	0.24	0.23	0.69					
c. shifty-finder-charge index and starts due to be any construmt, comparing conduction support for the betwark out of construction. - 48. - 48. 0.7 0.	b. Teaching/training/coaching: impart knowledge or instruct others	-0.41	-0.53	-0.43 -	0.21	0.73	0.57	-0.24	0.57	0.56	0.53	0.48	0.53	0.53	0.36	0.65	0.82	0.73	0.70	0.75	0.85	0.81	0.83	0.74	0.13				
4. Monophycondining: conditioning: condition: condition: conditing: condition: condition: condition: conditing:	c. Selling/influencing: induce others to do or buy something, negotiate	-0.61	-0.64	-0.60 -	0.51	0.75	0.73	-0.48	0.73	0.74	0.78	0.40	0.78	0.66	0.71	0.51	0.71	0.64	0.62	0.65	0.72	0.65	0.73	0.86	0.65	0.59			
a. Construct of the welfare models of starts. 1.15 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.05 0.	 Managing/coordinating: coordinate or supervise the behaviour of colleagues 	-0.46	-0.55	-0.44 -	0.31	0.82	0.74	-0.34	0.74	0.72	0.70	0.57	0.70	0.70	0.61	0.70	0.81	0.71	0.69	0.73	0.87	0.78	0.88	0.73	0.22	0.77	0.71		
B. Description Descripion <thdescription< th=""> <thdesc< td=""><td>e. Caring: provide for the welfare needs of others.</td><td>-0.15</td><td>-0.14</td><td>-0.14 -</td><td>0.11</td><td>0.16 -</td><td>0.04</td><td>-0.06</td><td>-0.04</td><td>0.12</td><td>0.16</td><td>-0.03</td><td>0.16</td><td>-0.20</td><td>-0.22</td><td>-0.14</td><td>0.32</td><td>0.33</td><td>0.32</td><td>0.32</td><td>0.28</td><td>0.29</td><td>0.25</td><td>0.66</td><td>0.31</td><td>0.43</td><td>0.30</td><td>0.22</td><td>_</td></thdesc<></thdescription<>	e. Caring: provide for the welfare needs of others.	-0.15	-0.14	-0.14 -	0.11	0.16 -	0.04	-0.06	-0.04	0.12	0.16	-0.03	0.16	-0.20	-0.22	-0.14	0.32	0.33	0.32	0.32	0.28	0.29	0.25	0.66	0.31	0.43	0.30	0.22	_
a Automy 1 a function with the decide working time, take order, methods and speed. a function with the work rest and the moder rest. a method working time, take order, methods and speed. b remove the moder rest and the moder rest. b remove the moder remove the remove	B. In terms of the methods and tools of work:	-					_															_					_		_
Labeled address addres	a. Autonomy	-0.49	-0.58	-0.47 -	0.41	0.81	0.73	-0.40	0.73	0.72	0.72	0.51	0.72	0.67	0.62	0.63	0.81	0.68	0.65	0.71	0.89	0.83	0.88	0.69	0.37	0.66	0.75	0.79	0.20
II. Cartrol (in reverse): a finite cartrol who have orders. -449 -440	 Latitude: ability to decide working time, task order, methods and speed. 	-0.52	-0.59	-0.52 -	0.43	0.83	0.77	-0.45	0.77	0.77	0.77	0.55	0.77	0.71	0.66	0.66	0.81	0.71	0.69	0.73	0.86	0.81	0.84	0.61	0.24	0.61	0.70	0.77	0.15
a. Processor: 4U12 U19 U1 U12 U19 U12 U19 U11 U12 U19 U11 U12 U19 U11 U12 U19 U12 U19 U11 U12 U19 U12 U19 U11 U12 U19 U12 U11 U11 U12 U19 U11 U12 U19 U11 U11 </td <td> Control (in reverse): direct control by boss or clients, monitoring of work. </td> <td>-0.49</td> <td>-0.54</td> <td>-0.43 -</td> <td>0.37</td> <td>0.75</td> <td>0.66</td> <td>-0.35</td> <td>0.66</td> <td>0.65</td> <td>0.65</td> <td>0.46</td> <td>0.65</td> <td>0.61</td> <td>0.57</td> <td>0.58</td> <td>0.77</td> <td>0.63</td> <td>0.57</td> <td>0.67</td> <td>0.85</td> <td>0.78</td> <td>0.85</td> <td>0.73</td> <td>0.43</td> <td>0.66</td> <td>0.75</td> <td>0.78</td> <td>0.21</td>	 Control (in reverse): direct control by boss or clients, monitoring of work. 	-0.49	-0.54	-0.43 -	0.37	0.75	0.66	-0.35	0.66	0.65	0.65	0.46	0.65	0.61	0.57	0.58	0.77	0.63	0.57	0.67	0.85	0.78	0.85	0.73	0.43	0.66	0.75	0.78	0.21
C moline and the start of the s	Teamwork: extent to which the worker has to collaborate and coordinate her actions with other workers	-0.12	-0.19	-0.11 -	0.12	0.46	0.36	-0.12	0.36	0.39	0.34	0.42	0.34	0.30	0.20	0.38	0.52	0.51	0.48	0.56	0.49	0.44	0.49	0.42	0.11	0.50	0.34	0.50	0.24
i. Support we owner in a work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work metwork is support to work metwork in the work in the work metwork in the work metwo	c. Koutine	0.57	0.54	0.61	0.39 -	-0.55 -	0.50	0.39	-0.50	-0.56	-0.60	-0.27	-0.60	-0.40	-0.41	-0.32	-0.55	-0.55	-0.55	-0.51	-0.50	-0.46	-0.50	-0.60	-0.38	-0.42	-0.60	-0.42	-0.40
1. Statustation: end/or work products are products a	 Repetitiveness: extent to which the worker has to repeat the same procedures 	0.69	0.73	0.74	0.41 -	-0.79 -	0.72	0.44	-0.72	-0.76	-0.76	-0.53	-0.76	-0.61	-0.55	-0.61	-0.80	-0.78	-0.77	-0.73	-0.73	-0.64	-0.75	-0.66	-0.24	-0.66	-0.70	-0.62	-0.36
iii. uncartainty inversion growing reasons to majora to anyone reasons to anyo	 standardisation: extent to which work procedures and outputs are predefined and encoded in a formalised system 	0.08	0.06	0.14	0.02	0.15	0.14	0.02	0.14	0.09	0.01	0.29	0.01	0.19	U.09	0.28	0.15	0.13	0.08	0.20	0.15	0.12	0.17	-0.09	-0.25	0.14	-0.05	0.19	-0.22
a. non-systemation user user <td> Uncertainty (in reverse): extent to which the worker needs to respond to unforeseen situations </td> <td>0.33</td> <td>0.25</td> <td>0.29</td> <td>0.32 -</td> <td>-0.43 -</td> <td>0.40</td> <td>0.31</td> <td>-0.40</td> <td>-0.42</td> <td>-0.42</td> <td>-0.30</td> <td>-0.42</td> <td>-0.35</td> <td>-0.34</td> <td>-0.31</td> <td>-0.43</td> <td>-0.41</td> <td>-0.36</td> <td>-0.45</td> <td>-0.40</td> <td>-0.38</td> <td>-0.40</td> <td>-0.40</td> <td>-0.24</td> <td>-0.28</td> <td>-0.41</td> <td>-0.41</td> <td>-0.18</td>	 Uncertainty (in reverse): extent to which the worker needs to respond to unforeseen situations 	0.33	0.25	0.29	0.32 -	-0.43 -	0.40	0.31	-0.40	-0.42	-0.42	-0.30	-0.42	-0.35	-0.34	-0.31	-0.43	-0.41	-0.36	-0.45	-0.40	-0.38	-0.40	-0.40	-0.24	-0.28	-0.41	-0.41	-0.18
a. Bugitary embedies machinery (non-mathem machinery) 4.0° 4.10° 4.0°	a. non-aigitai machinery (analog)	0.71	0.59	0.69	u.59	-0.42 -	0.38	0.63	-0.38	-0.43	-0.53	-0.04	-0.53	-0.30	-0.35	-0.19	-0.42	-0.42	-0.44	-0.35	-0.38	-0.38	-0.35	-0.66	-0.52	-0.39	-0.59	-0.29	-0.53
a. bask krigemen unitzeppinationsy	 Ligitally-enabled machinery (non-autonamous computing devices) 	-0.75	-0.81	-0.78 -	0.00	0.07	0.05	-0.58	0.68	0.91	0.90	0.66	0.90	0.77	0.72	0.72	0.79	0.63	0.84	0.76	0.66	0.55	0.70	0.56	0.24	0.54	0.08	0.60	0.14
	 Basic K. I (generic office applications) 	-0.63	-0.70	-0.69 -	0.47	0.85	0.84	-0.50	0.84	0.86	0.85	0.63	0.85	0.75	0.69	0.71	0.78	U.78	0.77	0.74	0.71	0.64	0.73	0.56	0.20	U.59	0.67	0.65	0.15

Note: The visual/auditory tasks index is considered as separate index and not included in the aggregate index on information processing (which therefore only refers to processing of codified information) and the overall intellectual index. **Source**: JRC – Eurofound European database of tasks indices

Figure 4: Selected bivariate correlations between task content and routine/ICT tasks



Source: JRC – Eurofound European database of tasks indices

Final remarks

Since the main aim of this paper is to present a new database of tasks across occupations for public use (and provide details on its construction and main characteristics) there are no conclusions as such. We just hope that, as the previous version of the database, other researchers will find it useful for their own purposes, and that it can contribute to a better understanding of work and its relation with technology in European labour markets. However, we can conclude with some final remarks to emphasize three points that we consider important.

First, the main value of this database is that it is built upon a coherent and comprehensive taxonomy of tasks contents, methods, and tools (Fernández-Macías and Bisello 2020). Although future users of this data are likely to focus on specific indicators or dimensions depending on their research interests, we would like to encourage them to always take into account the complementarities and associations between different categories and dimensions of tasks. As we have illustrated in different parts of this paper, tasks are not isolated forms of labour input that just happen to be in productive processes but building blocks of coherently constructed jobs which are embedded in productive organisations. Any analysis of tasks which focuses on a particular type in isolation risks missing important connections with other types of task content and forms of work organisation.

Second, the database presented in this paper covers the entire EU15 (minus the UK) with a single vector of tasks, without differentiating by country. Thus, possible differences between the task contents, methods and tools across different countries are missing from the database. Previous analysis (Fernández-Macías et al. 2016a; Fana et al. 2020) has shown that the task contents of occupations (the dimensions of physical, intellectual and social tasks in our taxonomy) are much less country-specific than the dimensions of methods (work organisation) and tools (technology). This is because task contents are more directly linked to the material contents of jobs and to the technical division of labour, whereas work organisation reflects cultural and institutional differences whereas technology use reflects economic development. For these reasons, we encourage future users of this database to complement it with the companion country-specific database of tasks contents, methods and tools in five European countries (Fana et al. 2020). Although this companion country-specific database is less rich in detail and depth than the European database presented in this paper, it is still a useful complement to test for possible country variations in the task indicators of our taxonomy.

A final remark concerns the possibility of a dedicated European survey of task contents, methods and tools. The database presented in this paper (and the companion country-specific database discussed in the previous paragraph) will surely be a useful resource for a better understanding of work in European labour markets, but it still has some limitations that could only be overcome with a new dedicated survey on tasks in Europe. We hope that our contribution raises awareness of the importance of having good and detailed measures of tasks contents, consistently measured at the individual worker level and at different points in time, in order to understand better how technical change and other factors are continuously changing the nature of work and the associated skills demand and job quality. A future European tasks survey could precisely provide that.

References

Acemoglu, D., and Autor, D. (2011). *Skills, tasks and technologies: Implications for employment and earnings*. In 'Handbook of Labor Economics', Vol. 4, PART B, pp. 1043-1171. Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-7218(11)02410-5</u>

Antonczyk, D., DeLeire, T., and Fitzenberger, B. (2010). *Polarization and Rising Wage Inequality: Comparing the U.S. and Germany*. IZA DP No. 4842.

Arias, O. S., Sánchez-Páramo, C., Dávalos, M. E., Santos, I., Tiongson, E. R., Gruen, C., de Andrade Falcão, N., Saiovici, G. and Cancho, C. A. (2014). *Back to work: growing with Jobs in Europe and Central Asia*. World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/978-0-8213-9910-1</u>

Autor, D. (2013). *The "task approach" to labor markets: an overview*. Journal for Labour Market Research, 46(3), 185–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12651-013-0128-z</u>

Autor, D. H., and Dorn, D. (2013). The growth of low-skill service jobs and the polarization of the USLaborMarket.AmericanEconomicReview,103(5),1553–1597.https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.103.5.1553

Autor, D. H., Dorn, D., and Hanson, G. H. (2015). *Untangling Trade and Technology: Evidence from Local Labour Markets*. Economic Journal, 125(584), 621–646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12245</u>

Autor, D., and Handel, M. (2013). *Putting tasks to the test: Human capital, job tasks, and wages*. Journal of Labor Economics, 31(2), S59–S96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/669332</u>

Autor, D., Levy, F., and Murnane, R. J. (2003). *The Skill Content of Recent Technological Change: An Empirical Exploration*. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, November, 1279–1333.

Bisello, M., Peruffo, E., Fernandez-Macias, E., and Rinaldi, R. (2019). *How computerisation is transforming jobs: Evidence from the Eurofound's European Working Conditions Survey*. JRC Working Papers Series on Labour, Education and Technology, 02/2019.

Blinder, A. S. (2009). *How Many US Jobs Might be Offshorable*? World Economics, 10(2).

Blinder, A. S., and Krueger, A. B. (2013). *Alternative Measures of Offshorability: A Survey Approach*. Journal of Labor Economics, 31(2), S97–S128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/669061</u>

Braverman, H. (1974). Labor and monopoly capital. Monthly Review.

Breaugh, J. A. (1985). *The Measurement of Work Autonomy*. Human Relations, 38(6), 551–570. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872678503800604

Cetrulo, A., Guarascio, D., and Virgillito, M. E. (2020). *Anatomy of the Italian occupational structure: concentrated power and distributed knowledge*. Industrial And Corporate Change. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtaa050</u>

Cirillo, V., Evangelista, R., Guarascio, D., and Sostero, M. (2020). *Digitalization, routineness and employment: An exploration on Italian task-based data*. Research Policy. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2020.104079</u>

Cunningham, C. M., and Mohr, R. D. (2019). *Using tools to distinguish general and occupation-specific skills*. Journal for Labour Market Research, 53(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12651-019-0256-1</u>

De La Rica, S., Gortazar, L. and Lewandowski, P. (2020). *Job Tasks and Wages in Developed Countries: Evidence from PIAAC*. Labour Economics, Vol. 65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2020.101845</u>

Dingel, J. and Neiman, B. (2020). *How Many Jobs Can be Done at Home*? NBER WORKING PAPER SERIES, 26948. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w26948</u>

Dosi, G., and Marengo, L. (2015). *The dynamics of organizational structures and performances under diverging distributions of knowledge and different power structures*. Journal of Institutional Economics, 11(3), 535–559. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1744137414000204</u>

Dosi, G., Nelson, R., and Winter, S. (2001). *The Nature and Dynamics of Organizational Capabilities*. Oxford University Press.

Dustmann, C., Ludsteck, J., and Schönberg, U. (2009). *Revisiting the German Wage Structure*. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 124(2), 843–881. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/gjec.2009.124.2.843</u>

Eurofound (2016). *Sixth European Working Conditions Survey: 2015 – overview report* (EWCS). Publications Office of the European Union, Luxemburg.

Fana, M., Valeria, C., Dario, G. and Matteo, T. (2020). *A Comparative national tasks database*. JRC Working Papers on Labour, Education and Technology. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eurscientific-and-technical-research-reports/comparative-national-tasks-database</u>

Fernández-Macías, E. and Bisello, M., *A Taxonomy of Tasks for Assessing the Impact of New Technologies on Work*. Seville, European Commission, 2020, JRC120618.

Fernández-Macías, E., Hurley, J., and Bisello, M. (2016a). *What do Europeans do at work? A task-based analysis: European Jobs Monitor 2016*. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Fernández-macías, E., Bisello, M., Sarkar, S., and Torrejón, S. (2016b). *Methodology of the construction of task indices for the European Jobs Monitor*. Eurofound. https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/sites/default/files/ef1617en2.pdf

Freeman, R. B., Ganguli, I., and Handel, M. J. (2020). *Within-Occupation Changes Dominate Changes in What Workers Do: A Shift-Share Decomposition, 2005–2015.* AEA Papers and Proceedings, 110, 394–399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/pandp.20201005</u>

Goos, M., and Manning, A. (2007). *Lousy and Lovely Jobs: The Rising Polarization of Work in Britain*. Review of Economics and Statistics, 89(1), 118–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/rest.89.1.118</u>

Goos, M., Manning, A., and Salomons, A. (2014). *Explaining Job Polarization: Routine-Biased Technological Change and Offshoring*. American Economic Review, 104(8), 2509–2526. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.104.8.2509

Górka, S., Hardy, W., Keister, R., and Lewandowski, P. (2017). *Tasks and Skills in European Labour Markets*. IBS Research Report 03/2017.

Handel, M. J. (2008). *Measuring Job Content: Skills, Technology, and Management Practices*. Discussion Paper No. 1357-08. Institute for Research on Poverty.

Handel, M. J. (2016). *What do people do at work? Journal for Labour Market Research*, 49(2), 177–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12651-016-0213-1</u>

Hardy, W., Keister, R., and Lewandowski, P. (2018). *Educational upgrading, structural change and the task composition of jobs in Europe*. Economics of Transition. Vol. 0, 1-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecot.12145</u>

Jolin, C., and Krann, K. (2008). *Use of technology and working conditions in the European Union*. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.

Martínez-Matute, M., and Villanueva, E. (2020). *Task Specialization and Cognitive Skills: Evidence from PIAAC and IALS*. IZA Discussion Paper No. 13555. <u>http://ftp.iza.org/dp13555.pdf</u>

Martínez-Plumed, F., Tolan, S., Pesole, A., Hernández-Orallo, J., Fernández-Macías, E., and Gómez, E. (2020). *Does AI Qualify for the Job? A Bidirectional Model Mapping Labour and AI Intensities*. In

Proceedings of the AAAI/ ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society (pp. 94–100). Association for Computing Machinery. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3375627.3375831</u>

Matthes, B., Christoph, B., Janik, F., and Ruland, M. (2014). *Collecting information on job tasks—an instrument to measure tasks required at the workplace in a multi-topic survey*. Journal for Labour Market Research, 47, 273–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12651-014-0155-4</u>

Morgeson, F. P., and Humphrey, S. E. (2006). The Work Design Questionnaire (WDQ): Developing and validating a comprehensive measure for assessing job design and the nature of work. Journal of Applied Psychology, 91(6), 1321–1339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.6.1321</u>

Nedelkoska, L. and G. Quintini (2018), *Automation, skills use and training*, OECD Social, Employment and Migration WP, No. 202, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/2e2f4eea-en</u>

OECD. (2016). *Skills Matter: further results from the survey of adult skills*. OECD Skills Studies, OECD Publishing, Paris. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264258051-en</u>

Pouliakas, K., and Branka, J. (2020). EU Jobs at Highest Risk of COVID-19 Social Distancing: Will the Pandemic Exacerbate Labour Market Divide? IZA Discussion Paper, 13281.

Pouliakas, K., and Russo, G. (2015). *Heterogeneity of Skill Needs and Job Complexity: Evidence from the OECD PIAAC Survey*. IZA Discussion Papers 9392, Institute of Labor Economics (IZA).

Ross, M. B. (2017). *Routine-biased technical change: Panel evidence of task orientation and wage effects*. Labour Economics, 48, 198–214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2017.08.007</u>

Menon, S., Salvatori, A and Zwysen, W. (2018). *The effect of computer use on job quality: Evidence from Europe*. IZA Discussion Paper Series, No. 11298.

Sebastian, R. (2018). *Explaining job polarisation in Spain from a task perspective*. SERIEs, 9(2), 215–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13209-018-0177-1</u>

Senftleben-König, C., and Wielandt, H. (2014). *The Polarization of Employment in German Local Labor Markets*. BDPEMS Working Paper Series 2014-07.

Sostero M., Milasi S., Hurley J., Fernández-Macías E., Bisello M., (2020). *Teleworkability and the COVID-19 crisis: a new digital divide*? Seville: European Commission, JRC121193.

Spitz-Oener, A. (2006). *Technical Change, Job Tasks, and Rising Educational Demands: Looking outside the Wage Structure*. Journal of Labor Economics, 24(2), 235–270.

Storrie, D., and Anton, J. (2018). *Wage and task profiles of employment in Europe in 2030*. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Suta, C., Barbieri, L., and May-Gillings, M. (2018). *Future Employment and Automation* 1. Quaderni Fondazione G. Brodolini, STUDI e RICERCHE Vol. 61: 17-43, 61, 17–43.

Tolan, S., Pesole, A., Martínez-Plumed, F., Fernández-Macías, E., Hernández-Orallo, J. and Gómez, E. (2020). *Measuring the Occupational Impact of AI: Tasks, Cognitive Abilities and AI Benchmark*. Seville: European Commission, JRC119845.

Torrejón Pérez, S. (2017). *Ocupaciones y trabajadores vulnerables: los cambios del lado de la demanda de empleo y sus implicaciones desde el punto de vista de la desigualdad y el género*. REL, 14(2), 137–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.21114/rel.2017.02.06</u>

Torrejón Pérez, S. (2019). *El contenido de tareas y la dinámica de las ocupaciones en España*. Sociología Del Trabajo, (94), 89-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.5209/STRA.63278</u>

Vignoles, A., and Cherry, G. (2020). *What is the economic value of literacy and numeracy*? IZA World of Labor. <u>https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.229.v2</u>

Annex 1

Table	A 1	Publications	based on	the to	ахопоту	developed	by Fe	ernández-Macías	et al.	(2016a and
2016b) an	d Fernández-N	Aacías an	d Bisell	o (2020)	and/or vers	ion 1.	.0 of the Europea	n task d	database

Source	Application					
What do Europeans do at work? A task-based analysis: European Jobs Monitor 2016 (Fernández-Macías et al. 2016a).	They present the framework of version 1.0 of the European task database and use this data for the analysis of the distribution and evolution of task content, methods and tools in Europe.					
Skills forecast: trends and challenges to 2030 (Cedefop and Eurofound 2018).	Projections of employment and skills for the future. The authors investigate which tasks will be performed in jobs up to 2030.					
Cedefop's Skills Panorama: <u>Tasks within occupations</u> .	The authors analyse the importance of various tasks required for occupations at the 2-digit ISCO code level.					
EULFS: ad hoc module on <i>job skills</i> (forthcoming).	Special module on tasks at work. Module to be implemented in 2022 (for more info see I and II).					
The tasks content and dynamics of the occupations in Spain (Torrejón, 2019).	An analysis of the relationship between the task content of occupations and its trajectory in Spain (1995-2010)					
Vulnerable occupations and workers (Torrejón Pérez, 2017).	The author creates an index (IRR) that measures which are the occupations and workers facing a higher risk to be replaced.					
Does AI Qualify for the Job? A Bidirectional Model Mapping Labour and AI Intensities (Martínez-Plumed et al., 2020).	They analyze (1) what impact current or simulated AI research activity has would have on labour-related tasks and occupations, and (2) what areas of research activity would be responsible for a desired or undesired effect specific labour tasks and occupations.					
A comparative national tasks database (Fana et al., 2020).	Building a comparative tasks database based on national sources for 5 EU countries, the authors study how employment distribute in terms of both tasks content and organizational methods within and across those countries.					
Future Employment and Automation (Suta et al., 2018).	The authors provide an estimate of the share of future job openings in the EU at high risk of automation.					
The wage and task profiles of employment in Europe in 2030 (Storrie and Anton, 2018).	This report examines the projected structural change for the wage and task structure of employment in EU Member States, up to 2030.					
Do old and new labour market risks overlap? Automation, offshorability, and non-standard employment (Malo and Cueto, 2019).	This article analyses analyse the relationship between the risk of automation and offshorability and the type of contact in the case of Spain.					
How computerisation is transforming jobs (Bisello et al. 2019).	This paper analyses changes in the task content, methods and tools of European jobs from 1995 to 2015.					
EU Jobs at Highest Risk of Covid-19 Social Distancing: Will the Pandemic Exacerbate Labour Market Divide? (Pouliakas and Branka, 2020)	The authors identify individual and job factors most likely to be impacted by social distancing measures and practices due to the Covid-19 pandemic.					
Teleworkability and the COVID-19 crisis: a new digital divide? (Sostero et al., 2020)	The authors assess which jobs can be done from home and those that cannot, and on this basis quantify the fraction of employees that are in teleworkable occupations across EU countries, sectors and socio-economic profiles.					
Measuring the Occupational Impact of AI: Tasks, Cognitive Abilities and AI Benchmarks (Tolan et al., 2020)	The authors analyse the impact of AI on occupations, by identifying the abilities through which AI is most likely to affect jobs.					

Variable	Factor1	Factor2	Factor3	Factor4	Factor5	Factor6	Factor7	Uniqueness
physical	-0.2253	-0.4274	-0.7994	-0.1896	-0.1768	0.0914	-0.0346	0.0509
strength	-0.2849	-0.4285	-0.612	-0.2957	-0.1916	0.1578	0.0312	0.2106
dexterity	-0.1536	-0.4296	-0.5949	-0.1728	-0.2404	0.1264	-0.0236	0.3337
navigation	-0.1866	-0.2764	-0.8665	-0.0738	-0.0368	-0.0213	-0.0773	0.1248
intellectual	0.5808	0.6362	0.2783	0.3811	0.1093	-0.0484	0.1109	0.0087
inforproc	0.4339	0.81	0.2816	0.2467	0.02	-0.0529	0.069	0.0075
uncodified	-0.1998	-0.3444	-0.8342	-0.0741	0.0116	-0.001	-0.0989	0.1301
codified	0.4339	0.81	0.2816	0.2467	0.02	-0.0529	0.069	0.0075
literacy	0.3873	0.7483	0.2851	0.3456	0.1851	-0.0737	0.0674	0.0451
business	0.3604	0.7471	0.3585	0.1929	0.2763	-0.1016	0.0885	0.0517
technical	0.3093	0.4463	-0.0494	0.659	-0.1619	0.0394	-0.023	0.2401
humanities	0.3604	0.7471	0.3585	0.1929	0.2763	-0.1016	0.0885	0.0517
numeracy	0.4449	0.8052	0.2549	0.1273	-0.147	-0.0277	0.0649	0.0459
accounting	0.3685	0.8306	0.3064	-0.0787	-0.0336	-0.0643	0.0779	0.0628
analytic	0.4719	0.6483	0.1505	0.3665	-0.2668	0.0227	0.0385	0.1269
probsolving	0.6728	0.4205	0.2527	0.4773	0.1848	-0.0402	0.1415	0.023
evaluation	0.4057	0.46	0.3036	0.6148	0.2586	-0.0432	0.1538	0.0613
infogath	0.2946	0.4872	0.3453	0.6039	0.2787	-0.0784	0.0894	0.1
conceptual~n	0.5227	0.3495	0.1928	0.5419	0.1886	0.019	0.2337	0.1833
resolution	0.8509	0.332	0.1733	0.2874	0.0914	-0.0324	0.1127	0.031
creativity	0.8304	0.203	0.1468	0.2641	0.106	-0.0395	0.1428	0.1447
planning	0.8055	0.4037	0.1806	0.2842	0.0742	-0.0249	0.0824	0.0618
social	0.6644	0.3868	0.1805	-0.0336	0.5724	-0.0739	0.0575	0.0388
serving	0.3614	0.1631	0.2592	-0.3704	0.5496	-0.1106	-0.0616	0.3203
teaching	0.7024	0.3709	0.0402	0.2818	0.2049	0.0406	0.1009	0.2343
selling	0.5934	0.545	0.2162	-0.0904	0.3848	-0.0804	0.0627	0.1374
managing	0.7132	0.5039	0.0174	0.0577	0.1332	0.0244	0.1483	0.1934
caring	0.2346	-0.0733	0.1029	0.1369	0.8609	-0.1267	0.0073	0.153
autonomy	0.8788	0.3328	0.204	0.0737	0.1133	-0.0822	0.0235	0.0497
latitude	0.7639	0.3825	0.2409	0.1294	0.1204	-0.1354	0.0601	0.1589
control	0.8947	0.2732	0.1631	0.029	0.0999	-0.0388	-0.004	0.0859
team	0.1691	0.2353	-0.1699	0.3636	0.1736	0.2283	0.4654	0.4561
routine	-0.2476	-0.2131	-0.1698	-0.0852	-0.131	0.8213	-0.3985	0.0067
repetitiv	-0.4651	-0.3763	-0.2534	-0.235	-0.2324	0.398	0.0034	0.3102
standard	0.0905	0.0293	0.0236	0.052	-0.0739	0.8992	0.1113	0.1613
certainty	-0.195	-0.1298	-0.141	-0.0314	0.0291	0.1561	-0.8773	0.1295
machines	-0.1825	-0.2834	-0.5888	-0.0448	-0.5088	0.2982	-0.0124	0.1897
ICT	0.2555	0.5824	0.4466	0.3244	0.2082	-0.049	0.1314	0.2279
ICTbasic	0.2676	0.6437	0.2749	0.2354	0.2435	-0.0513	0.0351	0.3199
ICTadvanced	0.2668	0.1557	0.3492	0.6846	-0.1694	-0.0537	-0.0806	0.2759

 Table A 2: Principal component factor analysis over the entire framework

Source: JRC – Eurofound European database of tasks indices

0.40 0.40 0.54 0.31 0.78 0.75 0.63 0.55 0.52 0.65 0.52 0.65 0.44 0.67 0.43 0.50 0.67 0.48 0.67 0.43 0.50 0.44 0.59 0.37 0.39 0.42 0.53 0.34 0.50 0.42 0.50 0.44 0.46 0.46 0.45 0.42 0.45 0.49 0.42 0.49 0.43 0.52 0.48 0.50 0.43 0.52 0.48 0.50 0.50 0.53 0.50 0.53 0.62 0.63 0.62 0.65 0.69 0.65 0.65 0.58 0.38 0.39 0.53 0.32 0.17 0.14 0.24 0.26 0.36 0.26 0.36 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.47 0.31 0.39 0.55 0.43 0.32 0.43 0.32 0.44 0.42 0.47 0.46 0.71 0.65 0.46 0.58 0.77 0.82 0.82 0.78 0.78 0.73 0.69 0.73 0.68 0.78 0.81 0.77 0.82 0.85 0.84 0.73 0.74 0.72 0.71 0.84 0.79 0.87 0.88 0.86 0.76 0.77 0.80 0.70 0.92 0.65 0.59 0.53 0.41 0.51 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.52 0.35 0.37 0.46 0.29 0.40 0.61 0.49 0.54 0.72 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.41 0.30 0.84 0.35 0.39 0.83 0.80 0.93 0.94 0.88 0.80 0.81 0.87 0.70 0.87 0.43 0.77 0.81 0.71 0.60 0.66 0.74 0.48 0.37 0.47 0.40 0.50 0.38 0.40 0.49 0.50 0.49 0.57 0.66 0.76 0.84 0.83 0.71 0.60 0.67 0.78 0.82 0.53 0.47 0.44 0.43 0.38 0.49 0.40 0.28 0.26 0.30 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.23 0.23 0.32 0.32 0.59
0.31
0.55
0.26
0.64
0.24
0.52
0.50
0.39
0.62
0.30
0.30
0.41 0.49 0.37 0.52 0.25 0.76 0.27 0.44 0.61 0.50 0.75 0.35 0.40 0.54 0.53 0.51 0.65 0.58 0.61 0.33 0.24 0.38 0.37 0.48 0.48 0.48 0.53
0.67
0.60
0.64
0.58
0.42
0.51
0.52
0.51
0.41
0.40
0.38
0.70 0.43 0.44 0.28 0.56 0.50 0.32 0.36 0.21 0.22 0.20 0.50 0.24 0.24 0.18 0.39 0.37 0.31 0.22 0.24 0.29 0.32 0.35 0.57 0.63 0.47 0.61 0.42 0.30 0.35 0.57 0.63 0.47 0.61 0.42 0.30 0.37 0.30 0.37 0.16 0.35 0.55
0.66
0.88
0.67
0.73
0.62
0.35
0.39
0.27
0.51
0.43 0.66 0.88 0.67 0.73 0.62 0.35 0.39 0.27 0.51 0.43 0.40 0.71 0.62 0.67 0.58 0.47 0.41 0.54 0.54 0.56 0.43 0.56 0.62 0.56 0.69 0.55 0.46 0.47 0.39 0.25 0.56 0.51 0.49 0.71 0.46 0.56 0.65 0.64 0.57 0.57 0.57 0.57 0.57 0.58 0.68 0.39 0.36 0.38 0.31 0.04
0.04
0.07
0.34
0.10 0.55 0.61 0.53 0.30 0.33 0.24 0.51 0.36 0.51 0.62 0.55 0.43 0.34 0.59 0.59 0.59 0.51 0.52 0.60 0.41 0.51 0.54 0.54 0.50 0.36 0.37 0.27 0.25 0.66 0.76 0.70 0.35 0.30 0.42 0.69 0.70
0.87
0.83
0.23
0.18
0.30
0.72 0.49 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.5 0.46 0.43 0.38 0.51 0.49 0.65 0.47 0.39 0.40 0.33 0.52 0.59 0.49 0.50 0.57 0.57 0.55 0.32 0.31 0.32 0.36 0.37 0.29 0.88 0.65 0.62 0.49 0.47 0.50 0.46 0.44 0.40 0.64 0.64 0.62 0.51 0.44 0.36 0.20 0.20 0.25 0.27 0.35 0.30 0.50 0.39 0.50 0.60 0.57 0.54 0.31 0.30 0.32 0.32 0.34 0.34 0.15 0.18 0.54 0.57 0.49 0.49 0.35 0.55 0.63 0.58 0.58 0.58 0.51 0.56 0.64 0.64 0.63 0.10 0.28 0.37 0.42 0.56 0.33 0.24 0.24 0.16 0.25 0.37 0.50 0.41 0.33 0.75 0.76 0.77 0.66 0.74 0.75 0.85 0.26 0.32 0.42 0.51 0.36 0.21 0.19 0.34 0.48 0.40 0.66 0.29 0.28 0.33 0.35 0.36 0.38 0.36 0.40 0.37 0.25 0.22 0.39 0.39 0.32 0.28 0.30 0.30 0.38 0.34 0.16 0.12 0.20 0.11 0.17 0.59 0.35 0.25 0.42 0.32 0.30 0.32 0.38 0.39 0.48 0.35 0.24 0.45 0.32 0.26 0.32 0.42 0.51 0.36 0.21 0.19 0.34 0.36 0.39 0.39 0.40 0.26 0.20 0.50 0.59 0.57 0.54 0.32 0.33 0.22 0.16 0.49 0.15 0.18 0.51 0.64 0.59 0.53 0.29 0.28 0.32 0.32 0.44 0.46 0.55 0.40 0.38 0.61 0.39 0.31 0.32 0.26 0.26 0.69 0.49 0.47 0.50 0.58 0.64 0.11 0.48 0.48 0.48 0.28 0.43 0.25 0.22 0.29 0.30 0.50 0.40 0.31 0.3

Table A 3: Distribution of task scores by occupations at ISCO08 two-digit level. [Click to enlarge it]

Source: JRC – Eurofound European database of tasks indices





Source: JRC - Eurofound European database of tasks indices

Annex 2: variables used

In this annex, the variables selected from the different sources (and the full wording of the questions) to construct the different tasks indices are listed.

European Working Conditions Survey (EWCS)

Physical tasks

An index of "Strength"

-Q30a Does your main paid job involve tiring or painful positions?

-Q30b Does your main paid job involve lifting or moving people?

-Q30c Does your main paid job involve carrying or moving heavy loads?

Intellectual tasks

An index of "Conceptualization, learning and abstraction"

-Q53e Generally, does your main paid job involve complex tasks?

-Q53f Generally, does your main paid job involve learning new things?

An index of "Creativity"

-Q53c Generally, does your main paid job involve solving unforeseen problems on your own?

-Q61i Select the response which best describes your work situation: You are able to apply your own ideas in your work.

Work organization

An index of "Autonomy - Latitude"

-Q42 How are your working time arrangements set?

-Q54a Are you able to choose or change your order of tasks?

-Q54b Are you able to choose or change your methods of work?

-Q54c Are you able to choose or change your speed or rate of work?

-Q61f You can take a break when you wish -at work-

-Q47 Would you say that for you arranging to take an hour or two off during working hours to take care of personal or family matters is...?

An index of "Teamwork"

-Q58 Do you work in a group or team that has common tasks and can plan its work?

Complementary variables are used to enrich the content of Q58, as explained at point 4. These are:

-Q60a For the team in which you work mostly, do the members decide by themselves on the division of tasks?

-Q60b For the team in which you work mostly, do the members decide by themselves who will be head of the team?

-Q60c For the team in which you work mostly, do the members decide by themselves the timetable of the work?

An index of "Repetitiveness"

-Q30e Does your main paid job involve repetitive hand or arm movements

-Q48a Does your job involve short repetitive tasks of less than 1 minute?

-Q48b Does your job involve short repetitive tasks of less than 10 minute?

-Q53d Generally, does your main paid job involve monotonous tasks?

An index of "Standardization"

-Q50c On the whole, is your pace of work dependent, or not, on numerical production targets or performance targets?

-Q53a Generally, does your main paid job involve meeting precise quality standards?

An index of "Uncertainty in reverse"

-Q51 How often do you have to interrupt a task you are doing in order to take on an unforeseen task?

Tools and technology

An index of "Non-digital machinery (analog)"

-Q29a Are you exposed at work to vibrations from hand tools, machinery, etc.?

-Q50d On the whole, is your pace of work dependent, or not, on automatic speed of a machine or movement of a product?

An index of "Computing devices"

-Q30i Does your main paid job involve working with computers, laptops, smartphones etc.?

Indagine Campionaria delle Professioni (ICP 2012)

Physical tasks

An index of "Strength"

-D32 The ability to exert maximum muscle force to lift, push, pull, or carry objects.

-D33 The ability to use short bursts of muscle force to propel oneself (as in jumping or sprinting) or to throw an object.

-D34 The ability to exert muscle force repeatedly or continuously over time. This involves muscular endurance and resistance to muscle fatigue.

-D35 The ability to use your abdominal and lower back muscles to support part of the body repeatedly or continuously over time without "giving out" or fatiguing.

-D36 The ability to exert yourself physically over long periods of time without getting winded or out of breath.

An index of "Dexterity"

-D22 The ability to keep your hand and arm steady while moving your arm or while holding your arm and hand in one position.

-D23 The ability to quickly move your hand, your hand together with your arm, or your two hands to grasp, manipulate, or assemble objects.

-D24 The ability to make precisely coordinated movements of the fingers of one or both hands to grasp, manipulate, or assemble very small objects.

-D25 The ability to quickly and repeatedly adjust the controls of a machine or a vehicle to exact positions.

-D26 The ability to coordinate two or more limbs (for example, two arms, two legs, or one leg and one arm) while sitting, standing, or lying down. It does not involve performing the activities while the whole body is in motion.

-D27 The ability to choose quickly between "two or more movements" in response to "two or more different signals" (lights, sounds, pictures). It includes the speed with which the correct response is started with the hand, foot, or other body part.

-D28 The ability to time your movements or the movement of a piece of equipment in anticipation of changes in the speed and/or direction of a moving object or scene.

-D29 The ability to quickly respond (with the hand, finger, or foot) to a signal (sound, light, picture) when it appears.

-D30 The ability to make fast, simple, repeated movements of the fingers, hands, and wrists.

-D31 The ability to quickly move the arms and legs.

-D39 The ability to coordinate the movement of your arms, legs, and torso together when the whole body is in motion.

-D40 The ability to keep or regain your body balance or stay upright when in an unstable position.

An index for "Navigation"

-D18 The ability to know your location in relation to the environment or to know where other objects are in relation to you.

-D46 The ability to judge which of several objects is closer or farther away from you, or to judge the distance between you and an object.

Intellectual tasks

An index of "Visual and auditory processing of uncodified info"

-D42 The ability to see details at a distance.

-D44 The ability to see under low-light conditions.

-D45 The ability to see objects or movement of objects to one's side when the eyes are looking ahead.

-D47 The ability to see objects in the presence of a glare or bright lighting.

-D48 The ability to detect or tell the differences between sounds that vary in pitch and loudness.

-D49 The ability to focus on a single source of sound in the presence of other distracting sounds.

-D50 The ability to tell the direction from which a sound originated.

An index of "Literacy: Business"

-B1 Knowledge of business and management principles involved in strategic planning, resource allocation, human resources modelling, leadership technique, production methods, and coordination of people and resources.

-B2 Knowledge of administrative and clerical procedures and systems such as word processing, managing files and records, stenography and transcription, designing forms, and other office procedures and terminology.

-H5 How frequently does your current job require written letters and memos?

An index of "Literacy: Technical"

-G21 Providing documentation, detailed instructions, drawings, or specifications to tell others about how devices, parts, equipment, or structures are to be fabricated, constructed, assembled, modified, maintained, or used.

An index of "Literacy: Humanities"

-D1 The ability to listen to and understand information and ideas presented through spoken words and sentences.

-D2 The ability to read and understand information and ideas presented in writing.

-D3 The ability to communicate information and ideas in speaking so others will understand.

-D4 The ability to communicate information and ideas in writing so others will understand the meaning and spelling of words, rules of composition and grammar, and pronunciation.

-C3 Communicating effectively in writing as appropriate for the needs of the audience.

-B24 Knowledge of the structure and content of the Italian language including the meaning and spelling of words, rules of composition, and grammar;

-B25 Knowledge of the structure and content of a foreign (non-Italian) language including the meaning and spelling of words, rules of composition and grammar, and pronunciation;

An index of "Numeracy: Accounting"

-B3a Knowledge of economic and accounting principles and practices, the financial markets, banking, and the analysis and reporting of financial data.

-D13 The ability to add, subtract, multiply, or divide quickly and correctly.

An index of "Numeracy: Analytic"

-D12 The ability to choose the right mathematical methods or formulas to solve a problem.

-C5 Using mathematics to solve problems.

An index of "Information search and retrieval"

-G1 Observing, receiving, and otherwise obtaining information from all relevant sources.

-G8 Compiling, coding, categorizing, calculating, tabulating, auditing, or verifying information or data.

-G24 Entering, transcribing, recording, storing, or maintaining information in written or electronic/magnetic form.

An index of " Conceptualization, learning and abstraction"

-C8 Understanding the implications of new information for both current and future problem-solving and decision-making.

-D8 The ability to apply general rules to specific problems to produce answers that make sense.

-D9 The ability to combine pieces of information to form general rules or conclusions (includes finding a relationship among seemingly unrelated events).

-D10 The ability to arrange things or actions in a certain order or pattern according to a specific rule or set of rules (e.g., patterns of numbers, letters, words, pictures, mathematical operations).

-G9 Identifying the underlying principles, reasons, or facts of information by breaking down information or data into separate parts.

An index of "Creativity"

-G11 Developing, designing, or creating new applications, ideas, relationships, systems, or products, including artistic contributions.

-E19 Who does this work can experience their own ideas.

-D5 The ability to come up with a number of ideas about a topic (the number of ideas is important not their quality, correctness, or creativity).

-D6 The ability to come up with unusual or clever ideas about a given topic or situation, or to develop creative ways to solve a problem.

-F15 Job requires creativity and alternative thinking to develop new ideas for and answers to work-related problems.

An index of "Planning"

-C18 Analyze the characteristics and requirements of tools, services or products necessary for the realization of a project.

-G13 Establish long-term goals and specify strategies and actions to achieve them.

-G14 Planning events, plans and activities; or other people's work.

Social tasks

An index of " Serving attending"

-B5 Knowledge of principles and processes for providing customer and personal services. This includes customer needs assessment, meeting quality standards for services, and evaluation of customer satisfaction.

-H8 How important are interactions that require you to deal with external customers (as in retail sales) or the public in general (as in police work)?

-G32 Performing for people or dealing directly with the public. This includes serving customers in restaurants and stores, and receiving clients or guests.

An index of "Teaching/training/coaching"

-G35 Identifying the educational needs of others, developing formal educational or training programs or classes, and teaching or instructing others.

-G37 Identifying the developmental needs of others and coaching, mentoring, or otherwise helping others to improve their knowledge or skills.

-G38 Providing guidance and expert advice to management or other groups on technical, systems-, or process-related topics.

-C15 Teaching others how to do something.

An index of "Selling/influencing"

-G31 Handling complaints, settling disputes, and resolving grievances and conflicts, or otherwise negotiating with others.

-C13 Persuading others to change their minds or behaviour.

-C14 Bringing others together and trying to reconcile differences.

An index of "Managing/coordinating"

-G33 Getting members of a group to work together to accomplish tasks.

-G36 Providing guidance and direction to subordinates, including setting performance standards and monitoring performance.

-C35 Motivating, developing, and directing people as they work, identifying the best people for the job.

-H9 In your current job, how important are interactions that require you to coordinate or lead others in accomplishing work activities (not as a supervisor or team leader)?

-G14 Scheduling events, programs, and activities, as well as the work of others.

An index of "Caring"

-C16 Actively looking for ways to help people.

-G29 Providing personal assistance, medical attention, emotional support, or other personal care to others such as co-workers, customers, or patients.

Work organization

An index of "Latitude"

-H52 How much freedom do you have to determine the tasks, priorities, or goals of your current job?

-G15 Developing specific goals and plans to prioritize, organize, and accomplish your work.

An index of "Control"

-F14 Job requires developing one's own ways of doing things, guiding oneself with little or no supervision, and depending on oneself to get things done.

-H48 In your current job, how much freedom do you have to make decisions without supervision?

-E20 Those who do this work plan their activities with little supervision.

An index of "Teamwork"

-H7 How important are interactions that require you to work with or contribute to a work group or team to perform your current job?

-F7 Job requires preferring to work with others rather than alone, and being personally connected with others on the job.

An index of "Repetitiveness"

-H42 How much time in your current job do you spend making repetitive motions?

-H51 How important to your current job are repetitious activities, either physical or mental, carried on in a relatively short time span (less than one hour)?

Tools and technology

An index of "Non-digital machinery (analog)"

-G18 Using either control mechanisms or direct physical activity to operate machines or processes (not including computers or vehicles).

-G20 Running, maneuvering, navigating, or driving vehicles or mechanized equipment, such as forklifts, passenger vehicles, aircraft, or water craft.

-C24 Watching gauges, dials, or other indicators to make sure a machine is working properly.

An index of "Advanced ICT"

-B9 Knowledge of electronic circuits, processors, chips of electronic equipment, computer hardware and software, including knowledge of application packages and programming languages.

-G19 Use computers and computer systems (software and hardware) to program, write software, adjust functions, enter data, or process information.

-C22 Writing computer programs for various purposes.

OECD Survey of Adult Skills (PIAAC)

Intellectual tasks

An index of "Business literacy"

-G_q01b In your job, how often do you usually read letters, memos or e-mails?

-G_q01g In your job, how often do you usually read bills, invoices, bank statements or other financial statements?

-G_q02a In your job, how often do you usually write letters, memos or e-mails?

An index of "Technical literacy"

-G_q01a In your job, how often do you usually read directions or instructions?

-G_q01f In your job, how often do you usually read manuals or reference materials?

-G_q01h In your job, how often do you usually read diagrams, maps or schematics?

-G_q02c In your job, how often do you usually write reports?

-G_q02d In your job, how often do you usually fill in forms?

An index of "Humanities literacy"

-G_q01c In your job, how often do you usually read articles in newspapers, magazines or newsletters?

-G_q01d In your job, how often do you usually read articles in professional journals or scholarly publications?

-G_q01e In your job, how often do you usually read books?

-G_q02b In your job, how often do you usually write articles for newspapers, magazines or newsletters?

An index of "Accounting numeracy"

-G_q03b In your job, how often do you usually calculate prices, costs or budgets?

-G_q03c In your job, how often do you usually use or calculate fractions, decimals or percentages?

-G_q03d In your job, how often do you usually use a calculator - either hand-held or computer based?

An index of "Analytic numeracy"

-g_q03f In your job, how often do you usually prepare charts, graphs or tables?

-g_q03g In your job, how often do you usually use simple algebra or formulas?

-g_q03h In your job, how often do you usually use more advanced math or statistics such as calculus, complex algebra, trigonometry or use of regression techniques?

An index of "Problem solving"

-F_q05a The next question is about "problem solving" tasks you do in your job. Think of "problem solving" as what happens when you are faced with a new or difficult situation which requires you to think for a while about what to do next. How often are you usually faced by relatively simple problems that take no more than 5 minutes to find a good solution?

-F_q05b And how often are you usually confronted with more complex problems that take at least 30 minutes to find a good solution? The 30 minutes only refers to the time needed to THINK of a solution, not the time needed to carry it out.

An index of "Conceptualization, learning and abstraction"

-D_q13a In your own job, how often do you learn new work-related things from co-workers or supervisors?

-D_q13b How often does your job involve learning-by-doing from the tasks you perform?

-D_q13c How often does your job involve keeping up to date with new products or services?

Social tasks

An index of "Teaching/training/coaching"

-F_q02b How often does your job usually involve instructing, training or teaching people, individually or in groups?

-F_q02c How often does your job usually involve making speeches or giving presentations in front of five or more people?

An index of "Selling/influencing"

-F_q02d How often does your job usually involve selling a product or selling a service?

-F_q04a How often does your job usually involve persuading or influencing people?

-F_q04b How often does your job usually involve negotiating with people either inside or outside your firm or organisation?

-F_q02e How often does your job usually involve advising people?

An index of "Managing/coordinating"

-F_q03b How often does your job usually involve planning the activities of others?

-D_q07a Do you have employees working for you? Please include family members working paid or unpaid in the business.

-D_q07b How many people do you employ? Would that be ...

-D_q08a Do you manage or supervise other employees?

-D_q08b How many employees do you supervise or manage directly or indirectly? Would that be ...

Methods

An index of "Latitude"

-D_q11a To what extent can you choose or change the sequence of your tasks?

-D_q11b To what extent can you choose or change how you do your work?

-D_q11c To what extent can you choose or change the speed or rate at which you work?

-D_q11d To what extent can you choose or change your working hours?

An index of "**Teamwork**"

-F_q01b In your job what proportion of your time do you usually spend cooperating or collaborating with co-workers?

Tools and technology

An index of "Computing devices"

-G_q05a In your job, how often do you usually use email?

-G_q05c In your job, how often do you usually use the internet in order to better understand issues related to your work?

-G_q05e In your job, how often do you usually use spreadsheet software, for example Excel?

-G_q05f In your job, how often do you usually use a word processor, for example Word?

-G_q05g In your job, how often do you usually use a programming language to program or write computer code?

-G_q05d In your job, how often do you usually conduct transactions on the internet, for example buying or selling products or services, or banking?

-G_q05h In your job, how often do you usually participate in real-time discussions on the internet, for example online conferences, or chat groups?

-G_q04 Do you use a computer in your job?

-G_q06 What level of computer use is needed to perform your job?

An index of "Basic ICT"

-G_q05a In your job, how often do you usually use email?

-G_q05c In your job, how often do you usually use the internet in order to better understand issues related to your work?

-G_q05e In your job, how often do you usually use spreadsheet software, for example Excel?

-G_q05f In your job, how often do you usually use a word processor, for example Word?

An index of "Advanced ICT"

-G_q05g In your job, how often do you usually use a programming language to program or write computer code?

GETTING IN TOUCH WITH THE EU

In person

All over the European Union there are hundreds of Europe Direct information centres. You can find the address of the centre nearest you at: <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en</u>

On the phone or by email

Europe Direct is a service that answers your questions about the European Union. You can contact this service:

- by freephone: 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (certain operators may charge for these calls),
- at the following standard number: +32 22999696, or
- by electronic mail via: <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en</u>

FINDING INFORMATION ABOUT THE EU

Online

Information about the European Union in all the official languages of the EU is available on the Europa website at: https://europa.eu/europa.eu/european-union/index_en

EU publications

You can download or order free and priced EU publications from EU Bookshop at: <u>https://publications.europa.eu/en/publications</u>. Multiple copies of free publications may be obtained by contacting Europe Direct or your local information centre (see <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en</u>).

- EU Science Hub ec.europa.eu/jrc
 - @EU_ScienceHub
 - @EUScienceHub
 - Joint Research Centre
 - EU Science Hub
- 🜐 Eurofound eurofound.europa.eu
- @Eurofound
- f @eurofound.europa.eu in Eurofound

in

100 1000

Eurofound